
 
 

 
West Northamptonshire Council 

www.westnorthants.gov.uk  

North Planning Committee 
A meeting of the North Planning Committee will be held at the The Jeffrey 
Room - The Guildhall, Northampton, NN1 1DE on Wednesday 6 December 

2023 at 6.00 pm 
 

Agenda 
 .  
1.  Apologies for Absence and Appointment of Substitute Members  

 
 
2.  Declarations of Interest  

Members are asked to declare any interest and the nature of that interest which they 
may have in any of the items under consideration at this meeting. 
 

 
3.  Minutes (Pages 5 - 10) 

To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting of the Committee held on 8 November 2023. 
 

 
4.  Chair's Announcements  

To receive communications from the Chair. 
 

 
5.  Applications for Determination  

 
 
a)   2023/5560/MAF - Residential Development of 52 no. dwellings. Arnex House, 

London Road, Daventry (Pages 11 - 50) 
 
b)   WND/2023/0235 - Outline application for construction of 29 dwellings with 

associated landscaping, open space, vehicular access and parking provision 
(all matters reserved aside from access). Land off Barby Road, Braunston 
(Pages 51 - 68) 

 
6.  Urgent Business  

The Chair to advise whether they have agreed to any items of urgent business being 
admitted to the agenda. 
 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



7.  Exclusion of Public and Press  
In respect of the following items the Chairman may move the resolution set out below, 
on the grounds that if the public were present it would be likely that exempt 
information (information regarded as private for the purposes of the Local 
Government Act 1972) would be disclosed to them: The Committee is requested to 
resolve: “That under Section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following item(s) of business on the grounds that if 
the public were present it would be likely that exempt information under Part 1 of 
Schedule 12A to the Act of the descriptions against each item would be disclosed to 
them” 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Catherine Whitehead 
Proper Officer 
28 November 2023 
 
 
North Planning Committee Members: 

Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair) 
 

Councillor Peter Matten (Vice-Chair) 
 

Councillor Sally Beardsworth Councillor Daniel Cribbin 
Councillor Penelope Flavell Councillor Rupert Frost 
Councillor James Hill Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift 
Councillor Paul Joyce Councillor Anna King 
Councillor Cathrine Russell  
 
 
Information about this Agenda 
 
Apologies for Absence 
Apologies for absence and the appointment of substitute Members should be notified to 
democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk prior to the start of the meeting.  
 
 
Declarations of Interest 
Members are asked to declare interests at item 2 on the agenda or if arriving after the start 
of the meeting, at the start of the relevant agenda item 
 
 
Local Government and Finance Act 1992 – Budget Setting, Contracts & 
Supplementary Estimates 
Members are reminded that any member who is two months in arrears with Council Tax 
must declare that fact and may speak but not vote on any decision which involves budget 
setting, extending or agreeing contracts or incurring expenditure not provided for in the 

Page 2

mailto:democraticservices@westnorthants.gov.uk


 

agreed budget for a given year and could affect calculations on the level of Council Tax. 
 
 
Evacuation Procedure 
If a continuous fire alarm sounds you must evacuate the building via the nearest available 
fire exit. Members and visitors should proceed to the assembly area as directed by 
Democratic Services staff and await further instructions.  
 
 
Access to Meetings 
If you have any special requirements (such as a large print version of these papers or 
special access facilities) please contact the officer named below, giving as much notice as 
possible before the meeting. 
 
 
Mobile Phones 
Please ensure that any device is switched to silent operation or switched off. 
 
 
Queries Regarding this Agenda 
If you have any queries about this agenda please contact Ed Bostock, Democratic Services 
via the following:  
 
Tel: 07775036776 
Email: publicspeaking@westnorthants.gov.uk  
 
Or by writing to:  
 
West Northamptonshire Council 
The Guildhall 
St Giles Street 
Northampton 
NN1 1DE 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

North Planning Committee 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the North Planning Committee held at The Jeffrey Room - 
The Guildhall, Northampton, NN1 1DE on Wednesday 8 November 2023 at 6.00 pm. 
 
Present: 
Councillor Jamie Lane (Chair) 
Councillor Peter Matten (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor Sally Beardsworth 
Councillor Daniel Cribbin 
Councillor Penelope Flavell 
Councillor Rupert Frost 
Councillor James Hill 
Councillor Cecile Irving-Swift 
Councillor Anna King 
Councillor Cathrine Russell  
 
Officers: 
Shaun Robson (Development Manager) 
Samantha Taylor (Principal Planning Officer) 
Oliver Billing (Planning Officer) 
Katherine Hall (Head of Legal – Place) 
Ed Bostock (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

15. Declarations of Interest  
 
Councillor Beardsworth declared a personal and non-pecuniary interest in respect of 
items 7a and 7b as a resident and a Ward Councillor for Kingsthorpe South but 
advised of no predetermination. 
 

16. Minutes  
 
The minutes of the previous meeting would be brought to the following meeting. 
 

17. Chair's Announcements  
 
None advised. 
 

18. Other Reports  
 

19. P/WNS/2022/0016/MIS(DC) - Divert the existing footpath around a new building 
that has been approved WNS/2022/1712/FUL. 2 Field Way, Helmdon  
 
This item was withdrawn from the agenda. 
 

20. Council Applications  
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



North Planning Committee - 8 November 2023 
 

None. 
 

21. Applications for Determination  
 

22. WNN/2022/1147 - Redevelopment of Bective Works to create 97no dwellings, 
comprising full and partial demolition of existing buildings; erection of 
townhouses and apartments; refurbishment and change of use of listed 
building and other associated works including landscaping and access 
arrangements at Bective Works, Bective Road, Northampton  
 
The Principal Planning Officer advised that the presentation would cover items 7a 
and 7b. She then presented the reports which sought planning and Listed Building 
consent for the redevelopment of Bective Works to create 97 dwellings, comprising 
full and partial demolition of existing buildings; erection of townhouses and 
apartments; refurbishment and change of use of listed building and other associated 
works, including landscaping and access arrangements. Members’ attention was 
drawn to the addendum which contained updates to various conditions and a 
correction which confirmed that Kingsthorpe Parish Council had objected to the 
proposal, instead of the no objection cited in the report. Following publication of the 
report, the Local Lead Flood Authority Officer raised concerns in relation to the 
agreement of Anglian Water to the proposed connection, the type of surface water 
drainage strategy, and asked for clarification to markings on the plan. Anglian 
Water’s comments made no objection to the proposal or connection so this was 
considered acceptable. It was recommended that an additional condition be imposed 
to require the submission of a surface water drainage strategy prior to the 
commencement of development. 
  
Councillor Hawes, in her capacity as a Ward Councillor for Kingsthorpe South, 
addressed the Committee and spoke in favour of the application. She commented 
that the site had been an eyesore for a long time and the subject of vandalism and 
antisocial behaviour. There had been significant local opposition to the previous 
application for student accommodation; this proposal was more appropriate for the 
area and the addition of parking was especially beneficial. 
  
In response to questions, Councillor Hawes stated that while all of the additional 
traffic generated would exit onto Harborough Road, the existing permission did not 
include any parking provision so would increase the parking demand on surrounding 
streets. She also advised that Kingsthorpe benefitted from a reliable bus service. 
  
In response to questions to the officer, the Committee heard that there were 
conditions included which related to surface water verification which would ensure 
that what was proposed would be implemented. Anglian Water had confirmed that 
the water systems could handle the proposed wastewater, and it was explained that 
there were bin stores throughout the proposed development. 
  
Members discussed the reports and made the following comments: 

       Members were pleased that the scheme had local support 
       Members were happy that a “problem” building would be brought back into 

use. 

Page 6



North Planning Committee - 8 November 2023 
 

       In relation to the Listed Building application, it was important that the town’s 
heritage be preserved. 

       It was suggested that the developer be asked to have a blue plaque installed 
to highlight the building’s history. 

  
Councillor Irving-Swift proposed and Councillor Hill seconded that the officer 
recommendation be agreed. The recommendation contained in the report, including 
updated conditions in the addendum and additional condition relating to a surface 
water drainage strategy, was put to a vote and declared carried with 10 votes for. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the application be APPROVED, subject to conditions, including updated 
conditions contained in the Addendum and an additional condition relating to 
the submission of a surface water drainage strategy. 
 

23. WNN/2022/1125 - Listed Building Consent Application for redevelopment of 
Bective Works to create 97no dwellings, comprising full and partial demolition 
of existing buildings; erection of townhouses and apartments; refurbishment 
and change of use of listed building and other associated works including 
landscaping and access arrangements at Bective Works, Bective Road, 
Northampton  
 
The officer presentation and debate took place as part of the previous item. 
  
Councillor Irving-Swift proposed and Councillor Hill seconded that the officer 
recommendation be agreed. The recommendation contained in the report, including 
updated conditions in the addendum and additional condition relating to a surface 
water drainage strategy, was put to a vote and declared carried with 10 votes for.  
  
RESOLVED:  
  
That the application be APPROVED, subject to conditions, including updated 
conditions contained in the Addendum and an additional condition relating to 
the submission of a surface water drainage strategy. 
 

24. 2023/5918/FULL - Demolition of swimming pool enclosure and replacement 
with single-storey side and rear extension and construction of rear raised 
patio. External lift shaft covering the ground and first floor which is two storeys 
in height, and front entrance canopy. Garage conversion with a conservatory 
extension to create self-contained living accommodation and new vehicular 
access & gates. Window and door alterations. Bank Cottage, 25 Drayton Park, 
Daventry  
 
The Planning Officer presented the report which sought approval for the demolition of 
a swimming pool enclosure and replacement with a single-storey side and rear 
extension and construction of a rear raised patio, external lift shaft covering the 
ground and first floors (2 storeys in height) and front entrance canopy, garage 
conversion with a conservatory extension to create self-contained living 
accommodation, new vehicular access and gates, and alterations to windows and 

Page 7



North Planning Committee - 8 November 2023 
 

doors. Members’ attention was drawn to the addendum which contained updated 
comments from Highways, who had objected to the application. One letter of 
objection was received from a neighbour which raised issues including the impact on 
residential amenity, loss of landscaping features, that the proposal would not be in 
keeping with other properties, access concerns, and the noise impact from the plant 
room. However, officers felt that the proposal would not result in any unacceptable 
loss of neighbour amenity, a condition was included to require details of a noise 
assessment be submitted to the Council, and regarding the objection received from 
Highways, it was explained that the property was located in a quiet area; officers did 
not that the proposed access would result in unacceptable harm to highway safety, 
and visible safety displays were required by condition. 
  
Jonathan Collins the agent on behalf of the applicant, addressed the Committee and 
spoke in favour of the application. He stated that the applicant was looking to provide 
suitable accommodation for a young individual with complex needs. The positioning 
of rooms was necessary to facilitate wheelchair access. Regarding suggestions that 
the development would be out of keeping with other properties, Mr Collins stated that 
this was not the case; the extensions would enhance the existing building’s 
appearance and the proposal would not result in any loss of residential amenity. The 
additional driveway space would assist with vehicle manoeuvring, and a construction 
management plan would be provided to ensure that the contractor had clear 
processes to adhere to. 
  
Ken Yarrow, the applicant, addressed the Committee and spoke in favour of the 
application. He voiced his agreement with the officer report and the recommendation, 
and asked the Committee to approve the application. 
  
In response to questions to the officer, the Committee heard that Highways had 
objected to the application due to the guidance in their policies around multiple 
access points for a single dwelling. However, the officer had visited the property and 
noted that the road was generally quiet with a 30mph speed limit; he felt that 
introducing an extra access point would benefit the applicant and would not result in 
an unacceptable highway impact. It was also confirmed that the ancillary garage 
conversion could not be divided to create a separate dwelling; this was secured by 
condition. 
  
Councillor Beardsworth proposed and Councillor Russell seconded that the officer 
recommendation be agreed. The recommendation contained in the report was put to 
a vote and declared carried with 9 votes for and 1 abstention. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the application be APPROVED subject to the conditions and reasons as set out 
in the report. 
 

25. Northampton Partnership Homes Applications  
 
None. 
 

26. Urgent Business  

Page 8



North Planning Committee - 8 November 2023 
 

 
There was no urgent business on this occasion. 
 
 
 

The meeting closed at 6.37 pm 
 
 

Chair: ________________________ 
 

Date: ________________________ 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



  Planning Committee Report 
 
Application Number:   2023/5560/MAF 
 
Location:  Arnex House, London Road Daventry 
 
Development:  Residential Development of 52no. dwellings 

   
 

Applicant:    Jessup Partnerships  
 
Agent:    CC Town Planning            
 
Case Officer:   Erica Buchanan  
 
 
Ward:     Daventry East  
     
 
Reason for Referral: Major Application requiring a Section 106 Agreement 
 
Committee Date:  6th December 2023    
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION 
  
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS as set out below 
with delegated authority to the Assistant Director – Planning and Development to approve an 
amendment to conditions as deemed necessary. 
 
And SUBJECT TO THE COMPLETION OF A S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT to secure the 
following planning obligations: 
 

• Affordable housing provision 
• Education financial contribution 
•  
•  Travel Plan monitoring fee 
• The Council’s monitoring fee 

 
Proposal  
 
The application is for the demolition of the existing commercial buildings and erection of 52 
dwellings.  The proposed dwellings are of mixed size to meet the varying housing needs with 
25% affordable.  The site would be accessed from a single junction with the existing accesses 
closed off. 
 
 
 
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 5a



  Planning Committee Report 
 
Consultations 
 
The following consultees have raised objections to the application: 
• Daventry Town Council   
 
The following consultees have raised no objections to the application: 
• Highways,  Environmental Health, Economic Growth and Inward Investment, Housing, 
 
8 letters of objection and 2 letters of support have been received. 
  
Conclusion  
 
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail at Section 8 of the report.  
  
The key issues arising from the application details are:  

• Principle of Development 
• Loss of Strategic Employment 
• Character and Appearance 
• Residential and Local Amenity 
• Highway Safety 
• Flood alleviation 

  
The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the proposal 
is acceptable subject to conditions.  
  
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the 
detailed report. 
  
MAIN REPORT  
  
1 APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  
  
1.1 The application site comprises of a rectangular shaped parcel of land, approximately 

1.3 hectares in area of brownfield land. The site currently contains dilapidated 
industrial units and is being used for a car wash facility in one of the old warehouses 
and a day nursery in the former office buildings. The use as main employment site 
has ceased for a number of years.  

 
1.2 The remaining factory buildings are in a poor state of repair, with much of the roof 
 covering stripped, two metal framed open sided storage buildings are located to the 
 north of the site. Most of the site is hard landscaped with areas of existing vegetation 
 to the boundaries. 
 

Page 12



  Planning Committee Report 
 
1.3 The site itself is positioned along the eastern side of London Road and bound to the 

north by an existing residential estate, with further residential housing located directly 
to the west, on the opposite site of London Road.  

 
1.4 To the south of the site lies a number of other commercial premises, with further  
 units located to the east, which are accessible via Broad March.  
 
1.5 There are three former accesses into the site, one located off London Road and two 

off Broad March Road. These serve the various current and previous operations on 
the site.  To the North of the site is a public footpath that currently separates the 
application site from the neighbouring residential properties. 

 
1.6 The boundary treatment along the footpath and the site is a 2m metal sheeting fence 
 and leylandii trees. 
 
1.7 The hand car wash and valeting centre and day nursery are both accessed off London 

Road. The hand car wash utilises an existing open sided metal framed storage 
building for its operations. There is ample space for vehicular manoeuvring on the 
shared hardstanding with the day nursery. 

 
1.8  The former office block being used by the day nursery is a 2 storey brick building with 

a flat roof. There is a car park / turning area to the frontage and a  fenced off outdoor 
play area for the children.  

 
1.9 In addition to the other two main users of the site there is also tyre storage centre 

located off Broad Marsh Road, via 2 separate access points. This company utilises 
another open sided warehouse and also mobile buildings on hardstanding to the front 
of the existing factory building. The storage of tyres is both internal within the 
warehouse and external on site. 

 
2 CONSTRAINTS 
  
2.1 The application site is allocated as protected employment land within the adopted 
 Local Development Plan. 
  
3 DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
  
3.1 The application is for the demolition of the existing buildings and hard landscaping  

and the redevelopment to provide 52 units which incorporates a mix of 1 bedroom , 2 
bedroom, 3 bedroom and 4 bedroom units. The proposal provides a mix of open 
market and 25% of affordable dwellings. 

 
3.2 The proposed development is to be accessed from a new access on London Road 

with the existing access on London Road closed off.  The other two accesses off Broad 
Marsh Road will also be closed off and continuous footpaths reinstated.  The proposed 
dwellings would be accessed off an adoptable spine road, providing access to  
individual properties and private drives serving up to 5 dwellings.  The majority of 

Page 13



  Planning Committee Report 
 

mature trees and some hedgerows are to be retained, particularly along the London 
Road boundary.  

 
3.3 The leylandii hedging and overgrown boundary to the north would be removed and 

replaced with new planting. Dwellings would be orientated to face the access road, 
and to create active frontages for London Road and the public footpath separating the 
application site from the existing residential properties in Abbot Close.  

 
3.4 The proposal includes parking to meet the parking standards with some allocated and 

non-allocated visitor parking across the site. 
 
3.5 The proposed heights of the dwellings would be a mix of two storey and single  
 storey  
 
4  RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

Application Ref.  Proposal  Decision  

DB/60/34 development of factories, offices and 
ancillaries (withing Class III) 

Approved  

DA/1997/0829 Change of use from office space to a daycare 
nursery, alterations to 3 windows to form doors 
enclosure of existing fire escape stairs and a 
new fence 

Approved 

 DA/1997/0881  1 non-illuminated sign Approved 

DA/1999/0024 Proposed fascia sign Approved 

DA/2003/1542 Variation of Condition 5 of Planning 
Application DA/97/0829 to increase the 
number of children from 60 to 90 

Approved 

DA/2013/0409 2 pole mounted signs, 1 fascia sign and 1 
banner sign (all non illuminated). 

Approved 

 
5        RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
   Statutory Duty 
  
5.1    Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be  determined  

  in accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
 
 
  

Page 14



  Planning Committee Report 
 
   Development Plan 
 
5.2  The Development Plan comprises: the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 

Local Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee on 15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy 
framework for the District to 2029; and the adopted Settlements and Countryside Local 
Plan (Part 2) (2020).  The relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan 
are set out below. 

 
  West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (2014) (Part 1) (JCS) 
 

• Policy SA – Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development  
• Policy S1 – Distribution of Development  
• Policy S2 – Hierarchy of Centres 
• Policy S3 – Scale and Distribution of housing 
• Policy S10 – Sustainable Development Principles  
• Policy C1 – Changing Behaviour and Achieving Modal Shift 
• Policy C2- New Developments 
• Policy E1 – Existing Employment Areas 
• Policy H1 – Housing Density and Mix and Type of Dwellings 
• Policy H2 – Affordable Housing 
• Policy H4 – Sustainable Housing 
• Policy BN2 – Biodiversity  
• Policy BN7 – Flood Risk  
• Policy BN9 – Planning for Pollution Control  

 
  Daventry District Settlements and Countryside (Part 2) Local Plan (2019) (LPP2) 
 

• Policy SP1 – Daventry District Spatial Strategy  
• Policy ENV1 – Landscape 
• Policy ENV5 – Biodiversity 
• Policy ENV10 – Design  
• Policy ENV11 – Local Flood Risk Management 
• Policy HO8 – Housing Mix & House Type  
• Policy ST1 – Sustainable Transport Infrastructure 
• Policy EC4 – Strategic Employment Areas 
• Policy CW2 – Open Space Requirements 

 
  Material Considerations 
 
  National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) 

• Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
• Section 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
• Section 15 - Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment 

Planning Practice Guidance Notes 
 

Biodiversity supplementary Planning Document (May 2017) 
 

Page 15



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Housing Supplementary Planning Document (July 2017) 
 

Northamptonshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy 
 

Infrastructure and Developer Contributions (October 2013) 
 

Northamptonshire Parking Standards Supplementary Planning Documents 
 

Local Highways Standing Advice for Planning Authorities (June 2016) 
 
6 RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
6.1  Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 

report.   
 

Consultee   Position  Comment  

Daventry Town 
Council 

Object Original Comments 
 
General Points 
 
The Town Council is not opposed in principle to this application 
which proposes a change of use from employment to one of 
residential even though the Local Development Plan policy would 
suggest that employment uses should be safeguarded in this area. 
However, the location of these proposed houses would be on the 
periphery of an industrial and commercial area and these uses would 
border the site on two sides. Careful design and layout therefore is 
important if  
these uses can acceptably co-exist alongside each other.  
The site is a rectangular shaped parcel of land, approximately 1.3 
hectares in area which is located along the eastern side of London 
Road, in an area which is surrounded by employment uses to the 
south and east and residential to the north and west. The 
neighbouring employment uses to the south of the site are very close 
to the boundary and careful consideration needs to be made in 
relation to these buildings not being overbearing and oppressive on 
the rear gardens and aspect of the proposed houses facing this 
boundary 
 
It is stated that the site is currently home to the London Road 
Valeting Centre as well the Caring Kindergartens Day nursery. 
However, Google Maps shows that the buildings on site appear 
significantly dilapidated and run down and it is not disputed, as 
asserted in the supporting Marketing Report, that the buildings are 
no longer viable for the site to continue to be in use for industrial or 
warehouse purposes. 
 

Page 16



  Planning Committee Report 
 

While the principle of re-development to a residential use or other 
use than employment is not disputed as set out above, there are 
significant issues with the proposals that in the opinion of the Town 
Council make it unacceptable in its current form. These specific 
issues will be set out below. 
 
Design and Layout 
 
In terms of the design and layout of the site it is proposed to 
accommodate 52 dwellings on to the 1.3ha site creating a density of 
40 dwellings per hectare. The surrounding density of residential 
development to the west of the site across London Road is probably 
closer to 17-20 dwellings per hectare, so over half as dense. While it 
might be acceptable to increase the density to a degree on this site  
it is considered by the Town Council that the constraints of the site 
including the very close and high existing industrial units to the 
south, the lack of a permeable drainage strategy (see further points 
below), the lack of off-street visitor parking and the need to 
reposition the access road means that this has led to over 
development and cramming of the site. The Town Council therefore 
considers that the overall number of units on the site should be 
reduced significantly.  
 
Access Road 
 
The proposal is for the existing access road for the site off London 
Road to be used as the entrance for the site and to be extended and 
form a spine road for the development. The Local Highway Authority 
has responded to the application and stated that the position for the 
junction is unacceptable and that this should be at least 20 metres 
away from the opposing junction of The Slade on the other side of 
London Road. The Town Council therefore considers that in terms  
of road safety  
this access should be redesigned and repositioned. While the Local 
Highway Authority states that with the trip generation rates of the  
proposed development that this would not cause an unacceptable 
impact on the highway the Town Council considers that this is 
already an unsafe junction  for the employment uses using the 
access. There was a serious accident recorded on 20/03/2020 
logged on crashmap.co.uk1 and other anecdotal evidence from local 
people suggest that this busy road and the location of this access is 
a cause  
for significant concern.  
It is therefore requested that sufficient assurances are secured that 
any redesigned access will be safe for all road users for the level of 
trips being generated.  
 
 
 

Page 17



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Drainage 
 
Anglian Water has responded to the application and requested that 
various informatives be added to any planning consent which might 
be granted. They have also stated that the surface water drainage 
strategy proposed in the flood risk assessment submitted with the 
planning application is unacceptable. This anticipates a discharge 
level of 108l/s which is much higher than would be expected. The 
hierarchy for drainage discharge would be Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SUDs) first, to achieve an equivalent greenfield runoff rate, 
with a direct  
connection to a sewer as the last option. It is clear that if a SUDs 
approach is taken this will require more land for swales or other 
SUDs features to achieve higher infiltration rates. Which further 
demonstrates that the site is over developed. The Town Council 
considers that a new approach to the design of the site should be 
taken to incorporate SUDs features, to attain an acceptable drainage 
strategy through a reduction of the development density on the site.  
 
Crime Prevention 
 
The Crime Prevention Design Officer from Northamptonshire Police 
has made some salient points in terms of designing out crime 
through the use of well positioned windows for natural surveillance 
and gating the alleys providing access to rear gardens on some 
plots. The Town Council endorses these points, and should the 
layout be redesigned and reconfigured as the Town Council is 
advocating, then these principles should be adopted in any revised 
scheme.  
 
Parking  
 
The Local Highway Authority has raised the issue that the 
development only has off road 5 visitor parking spaces as opposed 
to the 13 spaces that it would expect from this configuration of 
development. While it is stated that a degree of visitor parking can 
be accommodated within the carriage way for this width of road 
further tracking is required to ensure that refuse and emergency 
vehicles can sufficiently navigate and access the road. The Town 
Council considers that excessive on-street parking that could impede 
and hinder refuse and emergency vehicle access would be 
unacceptable. A rethink in the design of the development and 
reduction in the overall density should therefore be considered assist 
in realising a better balance between parking,  
access and the general layout of the scheme.  
 
 
 
 

Page 18



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Landscaping 
 
It is suggested by the developer that a landscaping strategy can be 
conditioned. Given the very significant impact of the existing 
warehouse/industrial buildings to the south of the site the Town 
Council considers that any landscape strategy should include a tree 
belt along this boundary. This would be similar to the one that 
separates properties on Manor Road from the Die-Pat Centre 
buildings which is very effective at screening this imposing bulk 
positioned at a similar distance to those proposed in this application.  
 
Housing Mix and Type 
 
The Town Council is supportive of the provision of bungalows within 
this development proposal and the delivery of 25% affordable 
housing combined with the provision of 6 1 x bed flats will help to 
offer younger house buyers and renters with potential 
accommodation. However, it does not appear that the housing mix 
proposed for the site meets the requirements of Policy HO8 of the 
Daventry District Council Settlements and Countryside Local Plan 
(Part 2). It will be a decision for the Planning Authority and Housing 
Service to determine whether the housing mix is best meeting the 
needs of local people.  
 
Sustainability and Low Carbon Development 
 
The Town Council is disappointed that the development proposals 
do not seem to promote high levels of energy efficiency and 
sustainability in design as required and promoted through Policy S10 
‘Sustainable Design Principles’ of the West Northamptonshire Joint 
Core Strategy. This advocates that development achieves the 
highest standards of sustainable design and be designed to improve 
the environmental performance and energy efficiency of buildings 
and to maximise the generation of energy needs from decentralised 
and renewable or low carbon sources. Apart from mentioning that all 
dwellings will incorporate an electrical vehicle charging point (which 
is now required under building regulations) there is scant mention on 
how this development can help to deliver higher levels of 
sustainability and low carbon living which we should all be aspiring to 
achieve.  
 
Contamination 
 
The Council’s Environmental Health Office has commented on the 
application and is concerned with the potential level of contamination 
on the site, (as are the members of Daventry Town Council), which 
may have been created by former uses.  
The Council’s EHO proposes a suite of conditions should the 
application be granted and the Town Council considers that this 

Page 19



  Planning Committee Report 
 

would be the minimum requirement in order to safeguard human 
health for existing and future residents. The Council would also 
request that these conditions are strictly adhered to, and that no 
development is commenced until the level of any contamination is 
established and the mitigation and decontamination of the site is 
agreed.  
 
Noise 
 
The Environmental Health Officer, in his response, also raises the 
issue of noise and the potential future impact of noise sources on the 
residents of the scheme.  
The EHO indicates that he doesn’t consider that the person 
undertaking the noise assessment is competent to do so, that no 
agreement had been reached prior to the assessment being carried 
out on the methodology and that the Local Planning Authority should 
not rely on the findings of the report.  
Valid concerns are raised as to whether noise from the existing 
industrial uses can be sufficiently mitigated to enable acceptable 
levels for habitation of the dwellings.  
The EHO expects that boundary treatments will be necessary to 
ensure adequate protection to receptors’ properties both internally 
and externally and strongly advocates that noise sensitive receptors 
(houses and gardens) are not located right up to the Eastern 
boundary of the site. A planning condition is suggested to be 
imposed that an assessment is undertaken prior to any development 
taking place. However, the Town Council considers that a full and 
adequate assessment needs to be completed prior to any decision 
on planning permission being granted.  
If adequate mitigation cannot be agreed or is not acceptable in 
planning terms then this may require a change and redesign of the 
layout of the scheme.  
Therefore, this information needs to be provided prior to deciding 
whether planning can be granted to inform the layout and design of 
the development.  
 
Conclusion 
 
The Town Council is not opposed in principle to this site being 
utilised for an alternative to employment which it seems is unviable 
now with the current state of the buildings and likely demand form 
tenants. However, the Town Council objects to the proposals put 
forward on the grounds set out above, principally that the site is 
being over developed with an access that is unsafe and a range of 
amenity and technical issues to address which could potentially be 
resolved through a revised design approach and lower densities 
being delivered across the site. 
  
 

Page 20



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Comments following amended plans 
 
Daventry Town Council has reviewed the amended application and 
notes the changes to the layout of the site due to the revised position 
of the access to the proposed development from London Road and 
reiterates its objection to the proposal as it has not addressed the 
original concerns raised. 
 

Highways   Trip Generation  
The trip rates and trip generation for the development were 
previously agreed with the LHA during pre-application scoping. 
There would not be an unacceptable impact on the highway, with a 
likely net reduction in peak hour trips compared to the established 
use of the site in full operation. Therefore, there is no requirement to 
assess junction capacity due to the limited impact.  
 
Site Access Junction  
Within the LHA’s pre-application scoping response, the applicant was 
advised that the existing access to the site was in a position that was 
not acceptable to be turned into a road junction. Opposing road 
junctions require a minimum offset of 20 metres (kerb projection). As 
shown below, this is currently around 15 metres The Slade junction. 
 
The reason for this is that 20 metre separation ensures that there is 
less confusion for turning traffic (the closer the minor roads are 
together, the closer it is to a crossroads situation which is no longer 
accepted) and also it ensures that a larger vehicle is able to turn out 
of one junction, straighten on the major road and then turn into the 
opposite junction. 
 
London Road is a “B” Class road. It is not considered necessary for 
the junction to include a right turn ghost island, consistent with other 
junctions along this stretch of London Road. 
 
Broad March Access  
As part of the development, the existing site access off Broad March 
is proposed to be closed off and the crossover removed. This is 
supported by the LHA. To create a new through route would be 
unacceptable as the road would not be suitable to provide a direct link 
between London Road and Broad March. Work to close off the access 
and return the crossover to verge/ footway will require the appropriate 
licence/ highway agreement. 
 
Tandem Parking  
Whilst tandem parking arrangements are acceptable, it should be 
noted that the LHA advises against situations (as shown below) where 
tandem spaces are in a row of 3 or more under sperate ownership. 
This can often lead to issues with access, particularly for the centre 
tandem spaces, and possible neighbour disputes. 
 

Page 21



  Planning Committee Report 
 

 
Visitor Parking  
Visitor parking is required at a rate of 0.25 spaces per dwelling. The 
development is required to provide a minimum of 13 visitor parking 
spaces. 5 spaces have been provided off the highway. The LHA 
accepts visitor parking provision within 5.5m wide carriageways 
subject to it not being an obstruction for road users. As the applicant 
is relying on the carriageway for visitor parking, the tracking exercise 
for the refuse vehicle must be undertaken with the parked vehicles in 
place (parked vehicles should be a 4.5m long car). Please ask the 
applicant to undertake and submit this. 
 
Refuse Vehicle Tracking  
The road layout must be tracked for a 4 axle refuse collection vehicle 
(the largest of this type in operation in West Northants). The 
applicant has submitted tracking for a different vehicle. Please ask 
the applicant to undertake this exercise again with the correct vehicle 
(including parked cars as detailed above) and submit the tracking/ 
swept path plan for review. Details of the vehicle to be used are 
attached.  
 
Collision Data  
The Transport Assessment includes personal injury collision data from 
Crashmap. There is no indication of how up to date this information is 
and WNC do not accept collision data from the Crashmap website as 
it is not based on the latest collision records held by West 
Northamptonshire Council and Northamptonshire Police. Collision 
data must be obtained directly form the Highway Authority. 
 
Public Transport  
The development is within acceptable walking distance of existing 
bus stops. Services stop on London Road and bus stops with 
shelters are already in place.  
The developer will be required to provide, on request, a 28-day adult 
bus travel card voucher (Stagecoach Megarider Gold) to promote the 
use of public transport. The current cost of the travel card is £174.80. 
This obligation is secured via the Section 106 Agreement and is 
capped at the total value of 52 No. travel cards. Please note that this 
is not a payment made to the Council but the scheme is administered 
by the developer, providing travel card vouchers directly to the 
residents on request. Uptake of the travel card vouchers will be 
reported either via travel plan monitoring or by a separate 
arrangement. 
 
Walking and Cycling  
The site will be well connected to the existing footway network and 
there are good opportunities for walking and cycling journeys to be 
taken. 
 
 

Page 22



  Planning Committee Report 
 

 
Comments following amended plans 
In respect of the above amended planning application, the local 
highway authority (LHA) has the following further observations, 
comments and recommendations: - 
 
Site Access Junction 
Further to the LHA’s previous comments, the position of the site 
access junction has been revised and is now offset by 20 metres from 
The Slade junction. This now meets minimum standards for opposing 
junction offset. Works to construct this junction would be carried out 
under an appropriate Highway Agreement. This would either be as 
accommodation works to the Section 38 Adoption Agreement or under 
a separate Section 278 Agreement. 
 
Broad March Access 
As part of the development, the existing site access off Broad March 
is proposed to be closed off and the crossover removed. This is 
supported by the LHA. To create a new through route would be 
unacceptable as the road would not be suitable to provide a direct link 
between London Road and Broad March. Work to close off the access 
and return the crossover to verge/ footway will require the appropriate 
licence/ highway agreement. 
A planning condition will be required to this effect with the closure 
complete prior to first occupation of the site. 
 
Tandem Parking 
The applicant has revised the parking layout to remove the triple 
tandem parking arrangements, previously highlighted by the LHA. 
This matter is resolved. 
 
Visitor Parking 
As previously advised, visitor parking is required at a rate of 0.25 
spaces per dwelling. The development is required to provide a 
minimum of 13 visitor parking spaces. 5 spaces have been provided 
off the highway. The LHA accepts visitor parking provision within 5.5m 
wide carriageways subject to it not being an obstruction for road users. 
The applicant has now provided a tracking drawing with the 
carriageway parking in place. This matter is now resolved. 
 
Refuse Vehicle Tracking 
The applicant has provided a tracking drawing of the 4 axle refuse 
collection vehicle, as previously requested by the LHA. This matter is 
now resolved. 
 
Collision Data 
As requested, the applicant has obtained and presented collision data 
in the vicinity of the proposed site access and The Slade junction 
directly from West Northants Council. This shows that there has been 

Page 23



  Planning Committee Report 
 

a single personal injury collision at the existing site access (2020) in 
the last 5 years. This would not indicate a significant road safety 
problem or one that would be deemed to be unacceptable in terms of 
the development and access proposal. 
Planning Permission does not give or imply permission for adoption of 
new highway or to implement any works within the highway and / or a  
 
Public Right of Way 
The views, observations, comments and recommendations contained 
in this response represent those of West Northamptonshire Council 
as Local Highway Authority and in no other function or authority. 
 
Public Transport 
The development is within acceptable walking distance of existing bus 
stops. Services stop on London Road and bus stops with shelters are 
already in place. 
The developer will be required to provide, on request, a 28-day adult 
bus travel card voucher (Stagecoach Megarider Gold) to promote the 
use of public transport. The current cost of the travel card is £174.80. 
This obligation is secured via the Section 106 Agreement and is 
capped at the total value of 52 No. travel cards. Please note that this 
is not a payment made to the Council, but the scheme is administered 
by the developer, providing travel card vouchers directly to the 
residents on request. Uptake of the travel card vouchers will be 
reported either via travel plan monitoring or by a separate 
arrangement. 
 
The applicant has indicated their acceptance of this obligation within 
the revised Transport Assessment. 
 
Travel Plan 
Travel Plan The updated travel plan has been submitted and 
reviewed. The updated review document is attached, to be passed to 
the applicant. The travel plan is approved. 
 
Conclusion 
The applicant has resolved the majority of issues previously raised by 
the LHA. The only outstanding matter is the unapproved travel plan. 
Once this has been amended and reviewed, the LHA will be in a 
position to provide a final response including confirmation of any 
requested planning conditions and Section 106 obligations. 
 

LLFA  Having reviewed the applicant’s submitted details located within:   
 
1. Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy for London Road, 

Daventry JSP02539-1FR 002539-JPL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-2001-A3-C02 
prepared by Jackson Purdue Lever on the 30th May 2023, we would 
advise that there is insufficient information available to comment on 

Page 24



  Planning Committee Report 
 

the acceptability of the proposed surface water drainage scheme for 
the proposed development.   

Our information requirements in support of applications are outlined in 
our document Local Standards and Guidance for Surface Water 
Drainage in Northamptonshire document: 
https://www.floodtoolkit.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/09/Local-
Standards-for-publication-v1.3-September-2017.pdf   
 
With reference to the above document, we note that the submitted 
surface water drainage information fails on the following grounds:   

1. As per our local standards, for brownfield or previously 
developed sites, where it is proposed to discharge runoff at rates 
greater than greenfield rates, evidence will be required to 
demonstrate why it is not feasible to achieve greenfield rates.  

2. The proposed development falls within the Upper Nene 
Catchment and therefore the 1 in 200 year plus climate change 
standards apply. 

3. The proposed layout fails to incorporate a suitable SuDS 
scheme.  

Our comments only cover the surface water drainage implications of the 
proposed development.  
 
Overcoming our concerns   
Our concerns can be overcome by submitting surface water drainage 
information which covers the deficiencies highlighted above.    
 
Further comments following submission of additional information 
Having reviewed the applicant’s submitted details located within:   

1. Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy for London 
Road, Daventry JSP02539-1FR 002539-JPL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-
2001-A3-C04 prepared by Jackson Purdue Lever on the 7th 
November 2023, we would advise that there is still insufficient 
information available to comment on the acceptability of the 
proposed surface water drainage scheme for the proposed 
development.   
 

Our information requirements in support of applications are outlined in 
our document Local Standards and Guidance for Surface Water 
Drainage in Northamptonshire document. 

With reference to the above document, we note that the submitted 
surface water drainage information fails on the following grounds:   

1. The proposed development is located partially within a high 
medium and low risk surface water flood flow route and has 
failed to appropriately assess all sources of flood risk. Please 
update the FRA with an appropriate assessment of flood risk 
(from all sources).  

Page 25



  Planning Committee Report 
 

2. The proposed development fails to incorporate an appropriate 
sustainable drainage system. 

3. The development proposes to build over the existing foul        
water sewer easement. Should the relevant water company not 
permit development within the sewer easement, the proposed 
layout will require revising to avoid building within the sewer 
easement.  

4. It appears that the proposed surface water drain downstream of 
the Hydrobrake is to pass-through third-party land before out 
falling to the existing adopted surface water. It is unclear it the 
applicant will have permission to construct the drain through 
what is thought to be third party land.  

5. It is noted that the surface water drain has been designed to 
surcharge within the 1 year storm event. As per our standard 
guidance, the system should not surcharge in the 1 year storm 
event.  

6. Based on the information provided, and given the depth of 
EXMH5703, it is unclear if the surface water drain will clash with 
the foul water sewer.   
 

Our comments only cover the surface water drainage implications of the 
proposed development. 

Overcoming our concerns   

Our concerns can be overcome by submitting surface water drainage 
information which covers the deficiencies highlighted above.    

We ask to be re-consulted on this requested surface water drainage 
information. We will provide you with bespoke comments within 21 days 
of receiving a formal re-consultation. We cannot support the application 
until adequate surface water drainage information has been submitted.    

 
National  
Highways 

No 
Objection 

National Highways has been appointed by the Secretary of State 
for Transport as a strategic highway company under the provisions 
of the Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the highway authority, traffic 
authority and street authority for the Strategic Road Network (SRN). 
The SRN is a critical national asset and as such we work to ensure 
that it operates and is managed in the public interest, both in 
respect of current activities and needs as well as in providing 
effective stewardship of its long-term operation and integrity.  
The proposed development is not expected to have an adverse 
impact on the operation of the SRN. National Highways therefore has 
no objection to this application 

Northants  
Police 
 

 Comment Northants Police has no objection to the principle of development on 
this site.  The layout follows crime prevention through environmental 
design principles in that the houses face the street and each other, 
gardens are back to back offering mutual security for all parties or back 
onto adjacent boundaries.  Where the rear garden perimeter backs 

Page 26



  Planning Committee Report 
 

onto open land or the public domain then the rear fence line should be 
supplemented with a trellis topping to reduce opportunities for climbing 
into the garden. 
 
Where parking is to the side of the house there should be a window in 
the gable end at ground floor level to allow overlooking of the parking 
space from within a routinely inhabited ground floor room. 
 
Where alleys are introduced to allow access to rear gardens these 
should be gated in line with the front building line or as near as 
possible - see between plots 36 and 37 and adjacent to plot 27. 
 
All new doors and windows should meet the requirements of 
PAS24:2022 or equivalent and be 3rd party accredited products. 
 
Further comments on amendments 
 
Comments: 
Previous comments pertaining to door and window standards and 
exposed rear fence lines still apply but in addition Northants Police 
would make the following comments about this new iteration. 
  
It is a pity that on this iteration of the plans the applicant has not included 
windows in the side elevations to provide overlooking of the car parking 
spaces as previously recommended. 
  
I am not sure quite what or who the alley adjacent to plot 33 is designed 
to serve.  The garden for plot 52 can be reached to the side of the 
dwelling, plot 34 from within the parking space for plot 34, plots 35 and 
36 from within the parking space or by the side of the dwelling.  If it is 
designed for plot 33 it does not need to stretch to plot 52 exposing the 
rears of all the gardens and making them vulnerable to burglary and in 
any event any alley should not exit between parking spaces.  This whole 
corner needs a rethink as plot 32 has parking for plot 33 adjacent to it 
and plot 35's parking is next to plot 33.  Northants Police are constantly 
called to deal with neighbour disputes which arise from inconsiderate 
behaviour associated with parking and people want to be able to see 
their vehicles from within their own dwellings with windows in the ground 
floor elevations enabling active surveillance.  This part of the layout 
provides ample opportunity for anti social behaviour and neighbour 
dispute incidents and should be reviewed. 

Anglian Water  No 
Objections 

There are assets owned by Anglian Water or those subject to an 
adoption agreement within or close to the development boundary that 
may affect the layout of the site  
The foul drainage from this development is in the catchment of Whilton 
Water Recycling Centre that will have available capacity for these 
flows 
The preferred method of surface water disposal would be to a 
sustainable drainage system (SuDS) with connection to sewer seen as 
the last option. Building Regulations (part H) on Drainage and Waste 

Page 27



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Disposal for England includes a surface water drainage hierarchy, with 
infiltration on site as the preferred disposal option, followed by 
discharge to watercourse and then connection to a sewer. 
 
The surface water strategy proposed in the flood risk assessment 
submitted with the planning application relevant to Anglian Water, 
Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy JSP02539- 
1FR 002539-JPL-ZZ-ZZ-RP-D-2001-A3-C02, is unacceptable, as the 
proposed discharge rate of 108l/s to the public surface water network 
is higher than Anglian Water would expect based on the surface water 
drainage guidance laid out in the surface water policy. We would 
therefore recommend that the applicant consults with Anglian Water. 
Further assessment is required to establish whether network 
reinforcement is required, please note that this assessment and any 
necessary reinforcement work will be at the developers cost. We 
request a condition be applied to the decision notice if permission is 
granted The purpose of the planning system is to achieve sustainable 
development. This includes the most sustainable approach to surface 
water disposal in accordance with the surface water hierarchy. It is 
appreciated that surface water disposal can be dealt with, in part, via 
Part H of the Building Regulations, it is felt that it is too late at this 
stage to manage any potential adverse effect. Drainage 
systems are an early activity in the construction process and it is in the 
interest of all that this is dealt with early on in the development 
process. 
Anglian Water would therefore recommend planning condition if the 
Local Planning Authority is mindful to grant planning approval. 
 
No further comments were made on the amended details. 

Environment 
Agency 

 No 
Objections 

We have reviewed the Phase 1 Geoenvironmental Desk Study (ref: 
23.03.010) by Listers Geo, dated April 2023, with regard to the risk 
posed to controlled waters. The previous use of the proposed 
development site as a warehouse presents a potential risk of 
contamination that could be mobilised during construction to pollute 
controlled waters. Controlled waters are sensitive in this location 
because the proposed development site is partially located upon a 
Secondary A aquifer. The application’s Phase 1 report demonstrates 
that it will be possible to manage the risks posed to controlled waters 
by this development. Further detailed information will however be 
required before built development is undertaken. We believe that it 
would place an unreasonable burden on the developer to ask for more 
detailed information prior to the granting of planning permission but 
respect that this is a decision for the local planning authority. In light 
of the above, the proposed development will be acceptable if a 
planning condition is included requiring the submission of a 
remediation strategy. This should be carried out by a competent 
person in line with paragraph 183 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework. Without these conditions we would object to the 
proposal in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework because it cannot be guaranteed that the development 

Page 28



  Planning Committee Report 
 

will not be put at unacceptable risk from, or be adversely affected by, 
unacceptable levels of water pollution. 

Environmental 
Health 

 
Contaminated Land 
  
I have reviewed the Phase 1 Geo-environmental desk study report 
produced by Lister’s Geotechnical and Geoenvironmental Consultants, 
report number 23.03.010 and dated April 2023. The report identifies 
multiple potential sources of contamination on-site, based on it’s 
historic use and a site walkover, along with a large amount of waste 
which will need to be appropriately disposed of with relevant 
paperwork included to demonstrate this. 
  
In order to ensure that the site can be considered suitable for use for 
the proposed end use, we will require a full phase two contaminated 
land investigation and risk assessment to be undertaken in accordance 
with the Environment Agency’s Land Contamination Risk Management 
(LCRM), this requirement is identified within the report. 
  
Should planning permission be granted for this site I ask that you 
consider imposing the following suite of conditions to ensure land 
contamination is suitably addressed. 
  
1. Site investigation 
  
The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until details 
of a strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the 
site in respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted 
to, and approved in writing by the LPA. This strategy will include the 
following components, unless the LPA dispenses with any such 
requirements in writing: 
  
A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 

• all previous uses 
• potential contaminants associated with those uses 
• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways 

and receptors 
• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the 

site 
  
2. Remedial Scheme  
  
A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a 
detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected, 
including those off-site. 
  
This must be conducted in accordance with the Environment Agency’s 
‘Land Contamination Risk Management (LCRM)’ (or any procedures 
revoking or replacing those procedures). 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm  
  

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


  Planning Committee Report 
 

 
 
 
3. Agreement of remedial scheme (options appraisal) 
  
Based on the risk assessment referred to in 2, an options appraisal and 
remediation strategy giving full details of the remediation measures 
required and how they are to be undertaken shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA. No development shall take place until 
the LPA has given its written approval of the scheme. 
  
This must be conducted in accordance with the Environment Agency’s 
‘Land Contamination Risk Management (LCRM)’ (or any procedures 
revoking or replacing those procedures). 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-
management-lcrm  
  
The scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated 
land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation 
to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
  
From section 183(c) of the NPPF and as per LCRM adequate site 
investigation information shall be prepared by a competent person. 
  
4. Carrying out of remedial works 
  
Remediation of the site shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved remedial option. No deviation shall be made from the 
approved scheme without the express written agreement of the LPA. 
The LPA must be given two weeks written notification of the date of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
  
5. Verification 
  
Following completion of measures identified in the approved 
remediation scheme, a verification report that demonstrates the 
effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be produced and is 
subject to the approval in writing of the LPA 
  
6. Unexpected contamination 
  
If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found 
to be present at the site then no further development (unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the LPA) shall be carried out until a remediation 
strategy detailing how this contamination will be dealt with has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. 
The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 
  
Reason: (common to all of the above)  
  
To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised and to ensure that the 

Page 30

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


  Planning Committee Report 
 

development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to 
workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. In accordance with 
Policy 11 of the NPPF 
  
Noise 
  
I have reviewed the noise assessment report undertaken by James 
Flitton of Crimson Remote Services Ltd, dated 20th April 2023 with no 
reference.  
  
The report seeks to identify the noise levels onsite and the noise 
sources within the area that contribute to these levels, and seeks to 
demonstrate the suitability of the proposed development in the 
proposed location with respect to noise. I am not satisfied that the 
author of the report is suitably competent to undertake this noise 
assessment and as such the findings of the report should not be relied 
upon. I note that there is no reference to the dates the noise 
measurements were undertaken and we have received no contact (to 
agree approach / methodology) prior to the noise assessment being 
undertaken.  
  
The report fails to adequately identify noise sources in the area that 
would likely adversely impact properties and given that the site lies in 
close proximity to industrial sites we would expect any future noise 
assessment report to reference the activities of these businesses in 
their assessment, and to consider both the impact of these activities on 
the proposed site, and the impact of bringing noise sensitive receptors 
closer to the operations of the existing businesses. The relationship 
between the existing businesses and any noise sensitive receptors will 
need to be considered carefully and I anticipate boundary treatments 
will be necessary to ensure adequate protection to receptors’ 
properties both internally and externally; I would strongly advocate that 
noise sensitive receptors are not located right up to the Eastern 
boundary of the site. 
  
I request that any permission you grant include the following conditions 
in order to ensure noise is suitably addressed and future residents are 
not exposed to nuisance. 
  
7. Insulation against external noise – Residential 
 
No development shall commence until a noise assessment has been 
undertaken and a scheme for protecting the proposed dwellings from 
external noise sources affecting the site has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any assessment 
method and acoustic criteria used for the assessment shall be prior 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority and any proposed 
mitigation scheme shall meet the aims of Policy 185, 187 and 188 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Practice Guidance 
on noise. Any works which form part of the scheme shall be completed 
in accordance with the approved details before any of the permitted 
dwellings to which the scheme relates are occupied.  

Page 31



  Planning Committee Report 
 

  
Reason : To ensure the creation of a satisfactory environment free from 
intrusive levels of noise, avoid conflicts with existing business that may 
generate some noise, and to comply with advice in the National Planning 
Policy Framework, Planning Practice Guidance on Noise, and Policies 
BN9 and S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
  
Informative: 
  
It should be noted that noise(s) generated internally between different 
planning class uses in the same or adjoining buildings proposed in this 
development will be covered by the Building Regulations and so 
Building Control should be consulted to determine whether they are 
satisfied that the relevant level of sound insulation can be provided for 
the development, as specified in Approved Document E of the Building 
Regulations.  
  
Where internal noise levels can only be achieved whilst relying on the 
attenuation provided by closed windows, or by assuming attenuation of 
more than -10dB through an open window, any noise assessment 
must be supported by an overheating assessment produced in line 
with the Institute of Acoustics and Association of Noise Consultants - 
Acoustics, Ventilation and Overheating – Residential Design Guide. 
  
Construction Management 
  
In order to ensure the adequate protection of local residents from the 
impacts of construction, I request that you consider imposing the 
following conditions on any permission you may grant: 
  
8.       Aggregate processing 
  
No demolition products (concrete, bricks, soil, etc) shall be processed 
(crushed or sorted) on-site, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
Local Planning Authority.  
  
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding highway safety, safeguarding 
residential amenity and reducing pollution in accordance with Policy S10 
of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
  
9.       Construction Management Plan  
  
Prior to the commencement of development a Demolition and 
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall 
be adhered to throughout the construction period and the approved 
measures shall be retained for the duration of the demolition and 
construction works. 
  
REASON: Details are required prior to the commencement of 
development in the interests of safeguarding highway safety and 

Page 32



  Planning Committee Report 
 

residential amenity in accordance with Policies C2 and BN9 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
  
 
Informative:  
  
The Statement required to discharge the Demolition and Construction 
Management Plan condition of this consent is expected to cover the 
following matters: 
  

• A noise and vibration assessment and management scheme 
undertaken in accordance with procedures detailed in BS 
5228:2009+A1:2014 Code of Practice for Noise and Vibration 
Control on Construction and Open Sites, BS 6472-1992 Guide 
to the Evaluation of human exposure to vibration in buildings, 
and BS 7385-2:1993 Evaluation and measurement for vibration 
in buildings. Guide to damage levels from ground borne vibration 

• A dust assessment and management scheme undertaken in 
accordance with Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) 
Guidance on Assessment of Dust from Demolition & 
Construction 2014, and Institute of Air Quality Management 
(IAQM) Guidance on Air Quality Monitoring in the vicinity of 
Construction & Demolition Sites 2018. 

• the parking and turning of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
• loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
• storage of plant and materials used in constructing the 

development; 
• the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including 

decorative displays and facilities for public viewing, where 
appropriate; 

• details of measures to prevent mud and other such material 
migrating onto the highway from construction vehicles; 

• wheel washing facilities; 
• measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during 

demolition and construction; 
• a scheme for waste minimisation and recycling/disposing of 

waste resulting from the demolition and construction works, 
which must not include burning on site.  

• design of construction access  
• hours of demolition and construction work 
• control of noise and/or vibration 
• measures to control overspill of light from security lighting 

  
REASON: Details are required prior to the commencement of 
development in the interests of safeguarding highway safety and 
residential amenity in accordance with Policy BN9 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
  
Informative: 
  

Page 33



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228: 2009 
Code of Practice for Noise Control on Construction and Open Sites and 
the Control of Pollution Act 1974, BS 6472-1992 Guide to the Evaluation 
of human exposure to vibration in buildings, and BS 7385-2:1993 
Evaluation and measurement for vibration in buildings - Guide to 
damage levels from ground borne vibration, Institute of Air Quality 
Management (IAQM) Guidance on Assessment of Dust from Demolition 
& Construction 2014, and Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) 
Guidance on Air Quality Monitoring in the vicinity of Construction & 
Demolition Sites 2018. 
  
Local residents that may be affected by the work shall also be notified 
in writing, after approval is received from the LPA or Environmental 
Health. 
  
Works audible at the site boundary outside the approved hours may 
result in the service of a Notice restricting the hours.  Breach of the 
notice may result in prosecution and an unlimited fine and/or six months 
imprisonment. 
  
10.     Construction Traffic: 
  
Vehicles, including delivery vehicles, must not park outside the 
development site at any time of the day or night unless specifically 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  Vehicles must enter 
the site immediately and must leave the site in a safe and controlled 
manner.  The public highway shall not be used as a holding area for 
deliveries. There shall be no contractor parking on the public highway at 
any time. 
  
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding highway safety, safeguarding 
residential amenity and reducing pollution in accordance with Policy S10 
of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
  
11.     Working hours for construction sites: 
  
No demolition or construction work shall take place on the site outside 
the hours of 0730 and 1800 Mondays to Fridays and 0800 and 1330 on 
Saturdays, and at no time whatsoever on Sundays, Bank Holidays or 
Public Holidays unless otherwise agreed with the local planning 
authority.  This includes deliveries to the site and any work undertaken 
by contractors and sub-contractors. 
  
Reason:  In the interest of safeguarding residential amenity and 
reducing pollution in accordance with Policy BN9 and S10 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
  
Informative:   
  
Contractors and sub-contractors must have regard to BS 5228-2:2009+ 
A1:2014 “Code of Practice for Noise and Vibration Control on 

Page 34



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Construction and Open Sites” (or any amendments or modifications) 
and the Control of Pollution Act 1974. 
  
Where permission is sought for works to be carried out outside the hours 
stated, applications in writing must be made with at least seven days’ 
notice. 
  
12.     Burning Prohibited – Construction 
  
There shall be no burning of any material during construction, demolition 
or site preparation works. 
  
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding highway safety, safeguarding 
residential amenity and reducing pollution in accordance with Policy 
BN9 and S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 
 
 
Air Quality Response 
  
The report "Air Quality Assessment, London Road, Daventry" dated 
April 2023 submitted by the applicant is satisfactory for the operational 
phase of the development. Dust will be generated during the 
construction phase of the development. Should approval be granted 
the construction management plan condition already recommended by 
my colleague must be imposed to address dust mitigation.   
  
In 2022 the UK government lowered the target value of fine particulate 
matter from 40 ug/m3 to 10 ug/m3 and it is imperative that dust 
generation is adequately controlled on site. 

Economic 
Growth 

 
Having reviewed the information presented in this application from an 
Economic Growth perspective, I cannot support this proposal, as it 
would result in the loss of non-residential floorspace and is contrary to: 
  
Policy EC4 of the Daventry Local Plan, adopted February 2020: - 
  
“Protecting existing employment areas as identified in Policy (EC4) - 
No loss of land within Strategic Employment Areas without reasoned 
justification. 
  
Article 4 directions may be introduced in order to further protect 
employment areas from change of use. Monitoring of employment 
sites will be reviewed annually in order to identify if there is a need to 
further protect employment areas from permitted development and 
loss of B-class uses. If this were to be pursued it would be outside the 
Local Plan process.” 
  
For planning applications involving a change of use either from one 
commercial use to another or from a commercial use to residential, the 
applicant has a responsibility to demonstrate that the property is no 
longer commercially viable or suitable for lease or sale. Please note, 
this is not a guarantee that planning will be approved as other planning 
policies will fundamentally affect how an application is assessed, for 

Page 35



  Planning Committee Report 
 

example change of use from commercial to residential is only usually 
permitted when all other options for commercial use have been 
exhausted. However, a clear and robust marketing exercise will be 
taken into material consideration. 
  
The applicant needs to demonstrate that the site is/has been marketed 
for commercial use over the last 12 months, outlined in the detail 
below. When carrying out a marketing exercise the applicant will be 
expected to: 
 

• Market the land for a minimum period of 12 months from an 
agreed start date 

• Secure valuations by three reputable commercial agents and 
evidence of marketing at that value to ensure it is at a 
commercially realistic rate 

• Produce a marketing strategy to be drawn up that includes 
advertising in local press and appropriate trade publications 
such as Estate Gazette as well as the internet and a “For Sale” 
board outside the premises unless demonstrated that it is 
inappropriate (e.g. where this might negatively affect the trade) 

• Maintain a detailed record of viewings of the premises, 
including feedback from potential purchasers and any offers 
made to be submitted to WNC at the end of the agreed 
marketing period. 

Whilst the site in question has been vacant for an ongoing period and 
marketed, there has been ongoing commercial interest throughout 
where the most recent interested commercial investment was 
described as having “unravelled towards the end of 2021” and another 
transaction “fell apart during the late summer of 2022”. As this is land 
is within a recognised strategic employment allocation, it would be 
beneficial to understand why this land is not commercially viable since 
it is an employment allocation which does have consistent investor 
interest. 
 
Comments following additional information Submitted 
Having reviewed the details of this application further and 
understanding the level of work to attempt to utilise the site for a 
commercial purpose but being unsuccessful, we would not object to 
this application on the grounds that the viability of the site has been 
tested.” 

  
7 RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 
 

Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the time of 
writing this report.  

 
7.1 There have been 8 letters of objections raising the following concerns: - 

 
• Noise during Construction 
• Parking 

Page 36



  Planning Committee Report 
 

• Loss of Trees 
• Boundary Fencing 
• Overlooking 
• High Density 
• Increased traffic 

7.2 There have been 2 letters of support have been received, citing the following: -  
 

• Removes eyesore 
• Unsociable use of site would cease 
• Would not increase traffic from current users 

8.0 APPRAISAL  
 
8.1 The determining considerations of the application are the principle of the proposal, the 

loss of employment site, design and appearance of the proposal; the impact of the 
proposal upon the amenities of the neighbouring properties; and the impact on the 
Highway and Flood Risk  

 
Principle of Development 
 

8.2 Policy SA of the JCS states that when considering development proposals, a positive 
approach will be taken on development that reflects the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development and to secure development that improves the economic, 
social and environmental conditions in the area.  

8.3 This is reflected in Section 2 of the NPPF which states that when considering 
development proposals, the Local Planning Authority will take a positive approach 
that reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

8.4 Policy S1 relates to the distribution of development and sets out a hierarchy 
specifying where development should be sited, especially primarily in and adjoining 
Northampton, and to a lesser scale the sub-regional town of Daventry, then rural 
service centres of Towcester and Brackley.  

8.5 Policy SP1 of the LPP2 seeks to ensure a sustainable pattern of development to 
meet the overall spatial strategy of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 

8.6 The application site lies within the built up area of Daventry to the South of the Town 
centre.   It is considered that the site lies in a sustainable location within walking 
distance of bus routes, schools and local shops it is therefore considered that the 
proposal complies with Policies in the JCS, LPP2 and the NPPF.  

  Loss of Employment 

8.7 Policy S8 of the JCS states that the majority of new job growth will be concentrated 
within the Principal Urban area of Northampton through amongst other things the 
renewal and regeneration of existing employment sites set out in Policy E1. The 
application site is identified in Policy EC4 as being within a Strategic Employment 
Area (Policy EC4c Daventry Marches).   

Page 37



  Planning Committee Report 
 
8.8 Policy E1 of the WNJCS seeks to protect existing employment areas for B use and 

employment generating uses and states that change of use to other (non 
employment generating) uses will be resisted unless it can be demonstrated that the 
site is no longer economically viable for employment purposes in the long term, there 
is a clear conflict with adjoining uses, or its release would offer significant benefits to 
the local area. 

8.9 Policy EC4 of the LPP2 states that alternative employment generating uses may be 
acceptable where:  

the change of use would have no direct or cumulative negative impact on the 
vitality, viability or function of the strategic employment areas and other 
centres; 

   the site has good accessibility by walking, cycling and public transport;  

the alternative use supports the role and performance of the employment 
area; and  

an independent assessment has demonstrated that the site is no longer 
attractive to the market for its existing permitted use.  

The requirement to demonstrate that the site is no longer attractive to the market 
should include evidence that it has been actively marketed through an agency for a 
period of at least 12 months which may include promotion on the agency’s website 
and marketing boards at the site. This information will also be supported by an 
independent market view of the site, details of the marketing and evidence that the 
site was fit for purpose at the time of marketing. 

8.10 However whilst the site forms part of the overall strategic employment site its 
commercial use has not been operational for a number of years and the main factory 
area and side offices are now derelict. 

 
8.11 The former office space that is currently occupied by the nursery will soon be empty 

as they are vacating the premises having found alternative premises. 
 
8.12 Therefore, apart from the car wash and the Broad March Road open storage yard there 

is no current economic activity on site that will be lost as a result of the proposal.  
 
8.13 As required by Policy EC4 the applicants have submitted evidence showing that the 

site has been marketed for the last 3 to 4 years for employment use and although there 
was some interest once assessments on demolition, site clearance and construction 
cost were made it resulted in any potential sale of the site falling through.  It is therefore 
considered that due to the length of time the site has been vacant and the derelict state 
of the existing buildings that the site is not commercially viable for its 
permitted/protected use in the long-term.  

  
8.14 Economic development has reviewed the details of the application and the 

information submitted relating to the marketing of the site along with the level of work 
to attempt to utilise the site for a commercial purpose but being unsuccessful, have 
not objected to the application on the grounds that the viability of the site has not 
been tested. 

 

Page 38



  Planning Committee Report 
 
8.15 It is therefore considered that the proposal complies with Policy E1 of the JCS and 

Policy EC4 of the LPP2 and that the alternative use for residential development is 
acceptable. 

 
 
 
 

Character and Appearance of the Area  
 

8.16 Policy ENV10 sets out the criteria to achieve high quality and inclusive design for all 
new development.  The character of the area is a mixture of residential and 
employment.  The application site forms part of the Daventry Marches and is a strategic 
Employment site.  There is currently a footpath that separates the existing residential 
properties from the employment site although there are residential properties adjacent 
to the employment buildings on Broad Marsh Road. 

 
8.17 The existing properties immediately adjacent to the site in Abbotts Close and London 

Road are primarily detached properties.  However, properties in surrounding streets 
are of a higher density. 

 
8.18 The proposed dwellings would be of a mix of single storey and 2 storey in height which 

reflects the existing housing within the area and comprise semi-detached properties 
with apartments fronting London Road  

 
8.19 The existing residential properties are mix of single and two storey dwellings and 

comprise predominantly brick with some rendered properties in the area.  The 
proposed development would be two toned brick with some detailing on properties 
taking reference from the existing properties.  

 
8.20 It is considered that the proposed dwellings fronting the public footpath provides 

natural surveillance of this walkway and reduces the enclosed nature of the existing 
boundary fence and leylandii trees helping to reduce the fear of crime for those using 
the footpath which is presently not overlooked for much of its route. 

 
Residential Amenity 
  

8.21 Policy ENV10 of LPP2 seeks new development to protect the amenity of new and 
existing dwellings. The proposed dwellings have been designed with a acceptable 
private gardens providing suitable separation distances and the proposed 
maisonettes whilst not having private gardens there is proposed openspace 
surrounding the units  

 
8.22 The design of the development respects the amenity of the nearby properties, 

including those located within close proximity to the northern boundary of the site, 
along Abbot Close. The proposed dwellings fronting the footpath are to be single 
storey which would avoid any overbearing impact on the adjacent properties, This will 
ensure that the proposed development does not result in any harm to the current 
amenity enjoyed by existing occupants to respect their privacy 

 
8.23 The proposed dwellings would comply with the National Minimum space Standards. 

Page 39



  Planning Committee Report 
 
 

Highway safety and parking 
 

8.24 The proposal includes the relocation of the access along London Road with the 
existing access closed off with hard surfacing being removed and the verge returned 
to grass.  The existing accesses along Broad March Road would also be closed off 

 
8.25 The Highways officer has not objected to the proposal and has taken into 

consideration the lawful use of the site compared to the proposal. 
  
8.26 The swept path analysis confirms that the highways arrangement provides 
 appropriate service/refuse vehicle access/turning.  
 
8.27 Parking is proposed on-plot for the majority of the houses or in close proximity 

and there is provision for 2 spaces per dwelling whilst the flats will each be 
provided with 1 parking space.  The proposal includes visitor spaces.  It is also 
proposed to provide EV charging points for the dwellings. 

  
8.28  It is considered that the proposed parking meets the standards required for new 

developments. And therefore accords with Paragraph 111 of the NPPF Policies 
C1 and C2 of the JCS, Policy ST1 of the LPP2 and Section 9 of the NPPF, and 
the adopted Northamptonshire County Council SPD for Parking Standards 
(2016) 

 
Flooding Risk 

8.29 All new developments will need to demonstrate that they have regard to existing and 
future flood patterns and that the need for effective protection and flood risk 
management measures from all sources, such as sustainable drainage systems and 
opportunities for strategic flood storage have been considered, this is particularly 
important in areas that are vulnerable to flooding. 

 
8.30 All new developments will need to demonstrate that they have regard to existing and 

future flood patterns and that the need for effective protection and flood risk 
management measures from all sources, such as sustainable drainage systems and 
opportunities for strategic flood storage have been considered, this is particularly 
important in areas that are vulnerable to flooding. 

8.31 Policy BN7A requires new development to ensure that adequate wastewater 
treatment capacity is available to address capacity and environmental constraints 
and that sustainable drainage systems where practical. 

 
8.32 Policy ENV11 of the LPP2 states that states that in order to manage flood risk and 

protect and where appropriate improve the quality of the water environment, 
development in Daventry District will be expected to comply with  

The Northamptonshire Local Flood Risk Management Strategy; and  
The Local Standards and Guidance for Surface Water Drainage in 
Northamptonshire. 
 Anglian Water’s Surface Water Drainage Policy.  

Page 40



  Planning Committee Report 
 
 
8.33  The ‘Local Flood Risk Management Strategy establishes the responsibilities of local 

authorities and developers with regards to flood risk and sets out the co-ordinated 
approach to the management of all local flood risks in Northamptonshire. 

 
8.34 Due to the restricted size of the site and the viability of the development SuDs would 

not be possible without losing some dwellings.  The applicants have provided details 
for flood alleviation and are still in consultation with the LLFA to address concerns of 
surface water disposal. 

 
9 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 
9.1 Paragraphs 55 and 57 of the Framework set out the need to consider whether 

financial contributions and planning obligations could be sought to mitigate against 
the impacts of a development and make otherwise unacceptable development 
acceptable.  

 
9.2 Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 

amended) makes it clear that these obligations should only be sought where they 
are: (a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 

 (b) directly related to the development; and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  

If a requested planning obligation does not comply with all of these tests, then it is 
not possible for the Council to require this.  
 

9.3 As the proposal meets the requirements for S106 contributions it is within this context 
that the Council has made and received a number of requests for planning 
obligations as detailed below. It is considered that some of these requests meet the 
necessary tests and are therefore CIL compliant.  

 
9.4 Education 

It is anticipated that the proposed dwelling mix is likely to require 14 Nursery/Pre-
School places, 11 Primary school places and 9 secondary and Sixth form places and 
a  financial contribution is required to address the increase in capacity.  It is considered 
that this request is CIL compliant. 

Affordable Housing 

The proposal provides 25% affordable housing as required by policy H2 and therefore 
is CIL compliant. 

Highways 

 A request has been made for a Travel Plan monitoring fee for a 5 year period from 
first Occupation  

These are both considered to be necessary for sustainability 

Page 41



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Library 

A request has been made for Library Contributions however it is based on a tariff and 
does not meet the relevant tests. 

Health 

There were no financial contributions requested from the Health Authority. 

9.5 If the committee resolves to approve the proposal, this will be subject to the completion 
of an agreement by way of Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 
covering the following heads of terms as part of the proposal:- 

• Education 
• Affordable Housing 
• Highways 

9.6 This development is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).   
 
10 PLANNING BALANCE AND CONCLUSION 
 
10.1 The proposal is for the redevelopment of a brownfield site which is in a sustainable 

primarily residential area. 
 
10.2 From an economic objective the proposed new dwellings would result in jobs being 

created during the construction of the site, a contribution to the viability of local retail 
uses, services and businesses and additional Council Tax revenue. Such matters 
would have a positive impact on the local economy and prosperity of the area which 
weighs in favour of the application and attract significant weight in the planning 
balance. As such, the proposed development would satisfy the economic role of 
sustainable development. 

 
10.3  From a social objective the delivery of a mix of market and affordable homes that will 

contribute to and help create a balanced and sustainable community in the area and 
assist with the delivery of much needed affordable housing.  

 
10.4 From an environmental objective the proposal makes effective reuse of previously 

developed land. Details in the application supports sustainable travel including cycle 
parking provision.   These benefits hold significant weight in the planning balance. 

 
10.5 On balance, therefore the significant benefits of the proposal would secure a 

sustainable form of development in accordance with the policies set out in the JCS, 
LPP2 and the NPPF that would outweigh the loss of the employment site.  

11 RECOMMENDATION / CONDITIONS AND REASONS:  
  
11.1 It is recommended that the application is approved subject to the following conditions 

and the signing of a S106 agreement relating to the Head of Terms outlined with 
delegated authority to the Head of Planning Delivery for Planning and Environment to 
approve any amendments as deemed necessary. ;-  

 
 Time Limit 

Page 42



  Planning Committee Report 
 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 

from the date of this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004) 

 
 Approved Plans 
 
2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with drawings 

and documents registered valid on 16/06/2023 and the amended plans deposited 
with the Local Planning Authority on 23/10/2023 
 

• Site Location J122-0100-P02 
• Existing Site Layout J122-0101-P01 
• Demolition Plan J122-0102-P01 
• Proposed Site Layout J122-0103-P05 
• 1B2P Maisonette J122-0200-P01 
• 2B3P Bungalow Detached J122-0201-P01 
• 2B3P Bungalow Semi-detached J122-0202-P01 
• 2B4P House Semi-detached J122-0203-P03 
• 2B4P House Terrace J122-0204-P01 
• 3B5P House Semi-detached J122-0205-P01 
• 3B5P House Semi-detached J122-0206-P01 
• 3B5P House Semi-detached J122-0207-P03 
• 3B5P House Terrace J122-0208-P01 
• 3B5P/4B6P House Terrace J122-0209-P01 
• 4B6P House Semi Detached J122-0210-P01 
• Tree Survey 22-2257 
• Ecology Report 22-2154 
• Noise Assessment  
• Air Quality Assessment ZCCTPLRD_AQA 
• Transport Assessment 
• Travel Plan 
• Flood Risk Assessment 
• Drainage Strategy 
• Phase I Geoenvironmental Report 23.03.010 
• Marketing Assessment APD/HG 
• Design and Access Statement 

 
Reason: To ensure development is in accordance with the submitted drawings and to 
enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the impact of any changes to the 
approved plans. 
 

3. Prior to construction works above slab level samples of the materials to be used in 
the construction of the external surfaces of the development hereby permitted shall 
be provided on site for inspection by the LPA. Only the materials as approved in 

Page 43



  Planning Committee Report 
 

writing  by the Local Planning Authority shall be used on the approved development.  

Reason: From the approved application details, it is not possible to assess the 
appropriateness of the proposed materials without checking them on site and 
comparing them to their surroundings, to ensure the proposed materials are 
appropriate to the appearance of the locality.  Because it can take up to 8 weeks to 
discharge a condition, it is recommended the samples are provided at least 8 weeks 
before they need to be ordered.)” 
 

4. No development approved by this planning permission shall commence until a 
remediation strategy to deal with the risks associated with contamination of the site in 
respect of the development hereby permitted, has been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the local planning authority. This strategy will include the following 
components: 
 

A preliminary risk assessment which has identified: 
• all previous uses 
• potential contaminants associated with those uses 
• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and receptors 
• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site 

 
A site investigation scheme, based on (1) to provide information for a  

 detailed assessment of the risk to all receptors that may be affected,  
 including those off-site. 

 
The results of the site investigation and the detailed risk assessment  

 referred to in  (2) and, based on these, an options appraisal and remediation 
 strategy giving full  details of the remediation measures required and how 
 they are to be undertaken. 

 
A verification plan providing details of the data that will be collected in order to 
demonstrate that the works set out in the remediation strategy in (3) are 
complete and identifying any requirements for longer-term monitoring of 
pollutant linkages, maintenance and arrangements  for contingency action. 

 
Any changes to these components require the written consent of the local planning 

 authority. The scheme shall be implemented as approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
in line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

5. Prior to any part of the permitted development being occupied, a verification report 
demonstrating the completion of works set out in the approved remediation strategy 
and the effectiveness of the remediation shall be submitted to, and approved in writing, 
by the local planning authority. The report shall include results of sampling and 
monitoring carried out in accordance with the approved verification plan to 
demonstrate that the site remediation criteria have been met.  

 

Page 44



  Planning Committee Report 
 

Reason: To ensure that the site does not pose any further risk to the water 
environment by demonstrating that the requirements of the approved verification plan 
have been met and that remediation of the site is complete. This is in line with 
paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
6. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 

at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
local planning authority) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how 
this contamination will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved in writing 
by, the local planning authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as 
approved. 

 
Reason To ensure that the development does not contribute to and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
from previously unidentified contamination sources at the development site. This is in 
line with paragraph 174 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
7. No drainage systems for the infiltration of surface water to the ground are permitted 

other than with the written consent of the local planning authority. Any proposals for 
such systems must be supported by an assessment of the risks to controlled waters. 
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the development does not contribute to, and is not put at 
unacceptable risk from or adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of water pollution 
caused by mobilised contaminants. This is in line with paragraph 174 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
8. If, during development, contamination not previously identified is found to be present 

at the site then no further development (unless otherwise agreed in writing with the 
LPA) shall be carried out until a remediation strategy detailing how this contamination 
will be dealt with has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning 
authority. The remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved. 

  
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite 
receptors. In accordance with Policy 11 of the NPPF. 

 
9. No development shall commence until a noise assessment has been undertaken and 

a scheme for protecting the proposed dwellings from external noise sources affecting 
the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Any assessment method and acoustic criteria used for the assessment shall be prior 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority and any proposed mitigation scheme 
shall meet the aims of Policy 185, 187 and 188 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework and Planning Practice Guidance on noise. Any works which form part of 
the scheme shall be completed in accordance with the approved details before any of 
the permitted dwellings to which the scheme relates are occupied.  

  
Reason: To ensure the creation of a satisfactory environment free from intrusive levels 
of noise, avoid conflicts with existing business that may generate some noise, and to 

Page 45



  Planning Committee Report 
 

comply with advice in the National Planning Policy Framework, Planning Practice 
Guidance on Noise, and Policies BN9 and S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint 
Core Strategy 2014. 

 
10. No demolition products (concrete, bricks, soil, etc) shall be processed (crushed or 

sorted) on-site, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.  
  

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding highway safety, safeguarding residential 
amenity and reducing pollution in accordance with Policy S10 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 

 
11. Prior to the commencement of development a Demolition and Construction 

Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction 
period and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of the demolition 
and construction works. 

  
Reason: Details are required prior to the commencement of development in the 
interests of safeguarding highway safety and residential amenity in accordance with 
Policies C2 and BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 2014. 

 
12. Prior to first occupation of the site, the existing vehicular access off Broad March shall 

be closed to traffic and footway, kerbing and grass verge reinstated and the new 
access off London Road shall be complete and open to traffic.  

 
Reason In the interests of highway safety. 

 
13. The 25 metre forward visibility splays, as shown on drawing No. 4801/C08, shall at all 

times be retained and kept clear of all obstructions to visibility exceeding 0.9m in 
height from carriageway level. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 

 
14. Prior to the commencement of any part of the development hereby permitted, a 

Construction and Traffic Management Plan must be submitted to and approved by the 
Local Planning Authority. The Construction and Traffic Management Plan must 
include and specify the provision to be made for the following: 

 
• Directional signage (on and off site). 
• A map, suitably scaled, to be printed and given to drivers detailing the routes 

to be used to access the site from the wider highway network. 
• Details of measures to prevent mud and other such material migrating onto the 

highway from construction vehicles. 
• The location and type of wheel washing facilities along with arrangements for 

the use of a road sweeper, if required. 
• Arrangements for the delivery and offloading of materials and contractor 

parking. 
 

Page 46



  Planning Committee Report 
 

The Construction and Traffic Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the 
construction period and the approved measures shall be retained for the duration of 
the construction works. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety 
 

15. Prior to any works commencing on the site a full set of engineering drawings of the 
internal site layout and site access junction, in accordance with the agreed site layout 
plan reference Drawing No. J122-BRP-00-00-DR-A-0103-P06, shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include 
all carriageway, footway, gradient and surfacing proposals. The development shall 
thereafter be completed in full accordance the approved drawings. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety. 
 

16. Should the street not be adopted details of a site management company and 
associated management and maintenance methodology of the streets within the 
development, to operate for the life of the development, will be submitted to the 
planning authority and agreed in writing prior to the commencement of development; 

 The streets shall be laid out and constructed to adoptable standards to ensure safe 
and practical operation, prior to first occupation of any dwelling; 

 
• That the streets will be identified as private through the use of appropriate 

private street name plates on the entrances to the development from the public 
highway 

 
Reason: In the Interest of Highway safety 

 
17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town & Country Planning (General Permitted 

Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and reenacting that Order 
with or without modification) no development shall be carried out which falls within 
Classes A to E inclusive of Part 1 of Schedule 2 to the Order without the prior express 
consent of the Local Planning Authority.  
  
Reason: In the interest of visual amenities of the area. 
 

18. No development shall commence until a surface water management strategy has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No hard-
standing areas to be constructed until the works have been carried out in accordance 
with the strategy. 

 

Reason: To ensure of a sustainable approach to surface water disposal. 

19. The dwellings hereby approved shall incorporate measures to limit water use to no 
 more than 110 litres per person per day within the home in accordance with the  
 optional standard 36 (2b) of Approved Document G of the Building Regulations 2010 
 (as amended). 

Reason: In the interests of sustainability and water efficiency. 

Page 47



  Planning Committee Report 
 
20. Prior to Occupation a comprehensive hard and soft landscaping scheme shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
landscaping scheme shall be implemented no later than the first planting season 
following first occupation of the development. If within a period of 5 years from the date 
of planting, any tree/shrub/hedgerow is removed, uprooted, destroyed or dies, (or 
becomes in the opinion of the Local Planning Authority seriously damaged or 
defective), another tree/shrub/hedgerow of the same species and size originally 
planted shall be planted at the same place. 

 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

 
21. Prior to occupation provision shall be made for electric vehicle charging points to 

serve each dwelling with a private driveway and 1 charging point for every 10 
unallocated spaces in accordance with details to be agreed.   

  
Reason: To comply with Policy S10 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core 
Strategy and to maximise opportunities for sustainable transport modes in 
accordance with paragraph 112(e) of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

 

Page 48



Rev Date Drawn Note

P02 20/04/2023 CMW Drawing status updated to
'Planning'.

Source File:
J122-6 26 Model.pln

Disclaimer: brp architects ltd. accept no responsibility for work not
undertaken fully in accordance with the contents of this drawing and
related specifications.  This document and its design content is
copyright protected ©. It shall be read in conjunction with all other
associated project information including models, specifications,
schedules and related consultants documents. Do not scale from
documents for construction purposes. Dimensions to take precedent
over scaling.  All scales noted correct at original paper size. All
dimensions to be checked on site. Immediately report any
discrepancies, errors or omissions on this document to the
originator. If in doubt ask.

Proposed Residential Development
London Road
Daventry, NN11 4DS

Jessup Partnerships
Client

Project Title

Drawing Title

Drawing Status

DateDrawn By Checked By (File copy only)

Document Reference:

Scale(s):

Site Location Plan

1 Millers Yard
Roman Way

Market Harborough
Leicestershire

LE16 7PW

t : 01858 464986
 brp-architects.com

Planning
1:1250

Original Paper Size:

A4

CMW 12.12.2022

J122-BRP-00-00-DR-A-0100-P02

El Sub
Sta

Long March
Industrial Estate

56

60

T H E    S L A D E
B

R
O

A
D

   M
A

R
C

H

145.1m

Shelter

LB

Arnex House

70

A
B

B
O

T
   

C
L O

S E

7

MS
1

51

1

4

L
O

N
D

O
N

   R
O

A
D

49a

T H E    W E S T W A Y

N

0
20 40 60 80

100

Scale (m)

200

Note: This drawing contains a reproduction of
the original Ordnance Survey data licence ref:
100022432. This information must not be used
for setting out and is subject to a full site /
topographical survey being undertaken.

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank



   Planning Committee Report 
 
Application Number: WND/2023/0235 
 
Location: Land off Barby Road Braunston Northamptonshire 
 
Development: Outline application for construction of 29 dwellings with 

associated landscaping, open space, vehicular access and 
parking provision (all matters reserved aside from access)
             

 
Applicant:  Manor Oak Homes    
 
Agent:  Geoff Armstrong            
 
Case Officer: Chuong Phillips                                                
 
 
Ward:  Braunston & Crick Ward 
     
 
Reason for Referral:  Major Application requiring a Section 106 Agreement 
 
Committee Date: 6th December 2023     
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF PROPOSALS AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT PERMISSION SUBJECT TO CONDITIONS as set out below 
with delegated authority to the Assistant Director – Planning and Development to approve an 
amendment to conditions as deemed necessary. 
 
And SUBJECT TO THE COMPLETION OF A S106 LEGAL AGREEMENT to secure the 
following planning obligations: 
 

• Affordable housing provision 
• Travel Plan Monitoring Fee 
• Education financial contributions 
• Council’s Monitoring Fee 

Proposal  
 
Outline application for construction of 29 dwellings with associated landscaping, open space, 
vehicular access and parking provision (all matters reserved aside from access)    
 
Consultations 
 
The following consultees have raised objections to the application: 

• Parish Council 
 

The following consultees have raised no objections to the application: 
• WNC Planning Policy, Lead Local Flood Authority, WNC Local Highway Authority, 

WNC Environmental Health  

Page 51

Agenda Item 5b



 
The following consultees are in support of the application: 

• Strategic Housing 
 

54 letters of objection have been received and 2 letters of support have been received. 
 
Conclusion  
 
The application has been assessed against the relevant policies in the NPPF, the adopted 
Local Plan and other relevant guidance as listed in detail within this report.  
 
The key issues arising from the application details are: 
  

• Principle of Development 
• Highway Safety 

 
The report looks into the key planning issues in detail, and Officers conclude that the 
proposal is acceptable subject to conditions and a legal agreement to secure the policy 
required affordable housing provision and /or commuted sums for alternative provision. 

 
Members are advised that the above is a summary of the proposals and key issues 
contained in the main report below which provides full details of all consultation 
responses, planning policies, the Officer's assessment and recommendations, and 
Members are advised that this summary should be read in conjunction with the detailed 
report. 
 
MAIN REPORT  
 
1 APPLICATION SITE AND LOCALITY  
 
1.1 The application site is located on the northern edge of Braunston village.  The north 

boundary of the site abuts the recreation field which is identified a local green space 
within the Development Plan. A modern housing development of Greenway with 
bungalows and their gardens adjoin the southern boundary of the application site with 
agricultural land to the west and the Barby Road highway to the east.  The site is 
beyond the Braunston Conservation Area and there are no important views that would 
be affected by the proposal.  Equally there are no other heritage assets either listed or 
unlisted within the immediate vicinity or the settings of such assets that would affected 
by the proposal. 
 

2 CONSTRAINTS 
 
Open Countryside  

 
3  DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 

3.1 The application seeks outline planning consent for the construction of 29 dwellings.  All 
matters are reserved with the exception of the proposed access and the development 
would meet the identified need as set out within the housing needs survey. The 
affordable housing need will be accommodated with the provision of 9 on site units and 
a commuted sum equivalent to 4 units ensuring that the full affordable housing policy 
requirement will be met through the development. 

 
 
 

Page 52



 
4 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY  

 
4.1 There is no planning history directly relevant to the proposal. 

 
5 RELEVANT PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE 

 
Statutory Duty 

 
5.1 Planning law requires that applications for planning permission must be determined in 

accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
Development Plan  
 

5.2   The Development Plan comprises: the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy 
Local Plan (Part 1) which was formally adopted by the Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee on 15th December 2014 and which provides the strategic planning policy 
framework for the District to 2029; and the adopted Settlements and Countryside Local 
Plan (Part 2) (2020).  The relevant planning policies of the statutory Development Plan 
are set out below. 
 
West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy Local Plan (2014) (Part 1) (JCS) 
 

• Policy S1 – The distribution of development 
• Policy S3 – Scale and distribution of housing development 
• Policy C2 New development  
• Policy H1 – Housing density and mix and type of dwelling  
• Policy H2 – Affordable Housing  
• Policy H3 – Rural Exception Sites  

  
  Daventry District Settlements and Countryside (Part 2) Local Plan (2019) (LPP2) 

 
• Policy RA2 - Secondary service villages  
• Policy RA6 – Open countryside  
• Policy HO7 Rural Exception Site Selection  
• Policy HO8 – Housing mix and type 
• Policy ENV10 - Design  
• Policy PA1 – Local green space  

Braunston Neighbourhood Development Plan 
 

• Policy B – Affordable Housing   
• Policy C – Traffic management 
• Policy F – Local Green Space  

 
 Material Considerations  

 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2023) 
 
 
 

Page 53



 
6 RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION 
 
6.1 Below is a summary of the consultation responses received at the time of writing this 

report. Responses are available to view in full on the Council’s website. 
 

Consultee  Position Comment 
WNC Strategic 
Housing  

Support This is an outline application for 
construction of 29 dwellings.  A 
housing need survey was undertaken 
in 2021.  This 
showed the need for 50 homes in 
Braunston.  The proposed 
development would deliver 29 new 
homes to meet the 
specific need identified in the 
Braunston Housing Needs Survey 
Report (HNS, 2021) and together with 
separate 
proposals being brought forward by 
the Northants Rural Housing 
Association (NRHA) at Maple Close it 
would ensure 
that the entire 50 dwelling need 
identified in the HNS is met. All the 
proposed dwellings, including market, 
affordable and a self‐build plot, would 
be secured for people with a local 
connection. 
The application falls within the 
Council’s Core Strategy Policy H2 
‘Affordable Housing’, which states in 
Section 9 that on all housing 
development of five or more dwellings 
40% should be provided as affordable 
housing in the rural areas of Daventry 
District.   The proposal would deliver 9 
out of 29 dwellings (or 31%) as 
affordable housing.  The rest of the 
required affordable will be provided in 
the form of a commuted sum in lieu of 
the on site provision. The sum would 
be the equivalent of providing 4 more 
affordable on site.    I have agreed the 
mix, numbers and quantum of onsite 
affordable with the applicant.  We will 
need to sort the commuted sum out 
soon to determine how much they owe 
the Council.  The applicants normally 
approach a consultant to undertake 
the calculation for them.  I can advise 
on the process. I am happy that the 
mix proposed meets the requirements 
of the housing need survey.  I am 
happy with the quantum of affordable 

Page 54



with the commuted sum payment. 
There are two small, distinct clusters 
that meet policy requirements 

WNC Environment 
Heath  

No objection  Suggests imposition of conditions 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority  

No objection  Suggest the imposition of conditions  
 

WNC Local Highway 
Authority  

No objection  Suggests imposition of conditions 

WNC Strategic 
Planning & Policy  

No objection The application site is located at 
Braunston just outside the defined 
confines. Braunston is designated as a 
secondary service village (SSV) in the 
Daventry Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2), 
therefore policies RA2 and RA6 are 
particularly relevant. The Braunston 
Neighbourhood Plan (made 2017) is 
part of the development plan and is 
also relevant. 
 
Although the site is outside the 
confines, development would be 
supported if it is one of the prescribed 
exceptions in policy RA2 B). 
Circumstance ii), clearly meeting an 
identified local need is relevant to this 
proposal. The Braunston Housing 
Needs Survey dates from 2021 and is 
still classed as up-to-date. The advice 
of the Affordable Housing Officer for 
the Daventry area should be sought to 
understand whether the proposed mix 
of market and affordable housing 
aligns with the HNS. The agreed mix 
should be secured by an appropriate 
condition. All new housing will be 
required to meet the housing 
standards set on in LPP2 policy HO8 
C) in respect of accessibility, space 
and water efficiency. Standards should 
be secured by an appropriate 
condition. 
 
Development at SSVs is also required 
to satisfy relevant criteria in part C. If 
the proposal satisfies policy RA2 Bii) 
and C, it will also satisfy policy RA6 xi. 
 
It is noted that the application has 
been submitted as an RA2 ii) proposal, 
which should not be confused with a 
West Northants Joint Core Strategy H3 
rural exceptions site. This means that 
it is a mixture of market and affordable 
to meet an identified local need. 

Page 55



 
 Although the application site is outside 
the Braunston Conservation Area the 
conservation area appraisal and 
management plan (CAAMP, 2018) 
identifies the field immediately to the 
north as an important open space. The 
neighbourhood plan identifies and 
protects the field as a community 
facility under policy E and as a Local 
Green Space under policy F. The 
views of the conservation officer 
should be sought to ascertain if the 
proposal would impact the significance 
of any heritage asset and its setting. 
The neighbourhood plan also identifies 
important view 2 looking south from 
Barby Road to Braunston under policy 
H, which could be affected by the 
proposal. 
 
The principle of the proposal would be 
acceptable in policy terms subject to 
the above considerations being 
satisfactorily addressed. 

Braunston Parish 
Council  

Object  The Parish Council is opposed to the 
application on the following grounds: 
 
The application does not meet the 
Neighbourhood Development Plan as 
follows: 
 
Policy A of the Braunston 
Neighbourhood Development Plan 
details our approach to residential 
development. Sub-section a states that 
residential development will be 
supported provided it is within the 
village's confines. The site referred to 
in the application is entirely outside the 
confines. 
 
Sub-section b of policy A states that 
development will be supported if it is 
small scale. This application is for 29 
homes in an area the same size as is 
occupied by the 50 homes in Cross 
Lane and Archer Avenue This is not a 
small-scale proposal. 
 
Sub-section c states that development 
will be supported if it is in accordance 
with Policy R1 of the West Northants 
Joint Core Strategy. Policy R1 states 
that residential development in rural 

Page 56



areas will be required to be within the 
existing confines of the village. 
 
Sub-section d of policy A states that 
development will be supported if it 
includes homes that potentially 
address the needs of elderly and/or 
first-time buyers. Manor Oak’s own 
statement states that less than a third 
of homes would be classed as 
affordable or discountable and this is 
on the current unrealistic definition of 
affordable based on 80% of market 
rates which does not meet the needs 
of most first-time buyers. Manor Oak 
also states that only half the new 
homes will be built to standards known 
as accessible and adaptable buildings.  
 
Our council has a record of supporting 
developments on rural exception sites 
that meet the needs of the village. The 
planned composition for housing on 
this site does not meet those 
standards. 
 
Sub-section e of policy A requires 
development to be in keeping with its 
Character Area. As the planning 
application is for a rural area it is not 
within in any of the Character Areas as 
mapped in the NDP. If built it would be 
adjacent to Character Area 6 which 
mainly consists of Greenway and its 
eight closes. This development would 
not conform to the description of this 
area as it would be a close off Barby 
Road at a point after the junction with 
Greenway where Barby Road has 
become a country lane. 
 
Sub-section e also states that 
innovative or outstanding design will 
be supported. There is no mention of 
such a design in the planning 
application. Manor Oak describes the 
homes as ‘net-zero ready’, admitting 
that they will not be net zero and that 
the costs and inconvenience of 
converting from ‘net zero ready’ to 
actual net zero would be left for the 
householders to bear. The application 
does not meet the aspirations of Policy 
M of the Braunston NDP. 
 

Page 57



The application appears to meet the 
requirements of sub-section f. 
 
Braunston NDP was written with the 
active help of 30 members of the 
community. The community 
engagement was judged to be 
exemplary by the independent external 
examiner. It is a clear document with 
strong community support. 
 
Expanding further on the affordable 
housing, the current proposal is that 
the homes are for sale at a discount, 
this will result in a one-off gain towards 
the housing needs, but this is lost once 
resales come into effect as the 6-
month criteria may not be met and 
then the stock being released for sale 
on the general market. 
 
The National Design Guidelines state 
that the 'entry-level exception sites' 
policy is a tool to deliver housing 
schemes on non-allocated land on the 
edge of cities, towns, and villages 
which is aimed at first-time buyers or 
first-time renters. This would not be 
achieved by the development 
described in the planning application 
for the reasons below: 
 
Regarding section d mentioned above 
the council also has concerns over the 
affordability of the purchase of the 
houses, research shows that the 
average price in Braunston is 
£298,500 over the basket of properties 
so based on this the 80% value would 
be £238,800 (Rightmove). The 
researched average salary for 
Northamptonshire is £34,898 (Adzuna) 
therefore making these affordable 
houses unaffordable to the average 
person within the community. 
 
The Parish Council has a history of 
supporting affordable housing 
developments both in the village 
confines and on exception sites, but 
these have always been rental 
properties to ensure that the housing 
stock remains affordable housing for 
people with Braunston connections. 
 

Page 58



The Parish Council has previously 
supported schemes on exceptions site 
with two successful projects in Maple 
Close and they have already 
supported a proposed third project to 
extend Maple Close further. 
 
Therefore, the council does not feel 
that Barby Road makes the case to be 
an exception site. 
 
Further concerns are over the potential 
highways issues both during any 
construction if the application is 
supported and after completion as the 
proposed entrance is very close to an 
existing junction and will result in more 
traffic on an already busy road, 
especially at school times. The existing 
highway and footpath are very narrow 
in places and the council would like to 
see improvements made here before 
any permission is granted. 
 
There have also been many reasons 
for the objection raised but these are 
not always strictly planning criteria, so 
we have chosen to exclude them from 
our response of the 50-odd members 
of the public who attended the 
meetings 3 were broadly in favour and 
the rest were broadly against. 

 
7 RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY 

Below is a summary of the third party and neighbour responses received at the time of 
writing this report.  

 
7.1 There have been 54 objections raising the following comments: 

 
• The proposal exceeds the housing needs survey requirement  
• Highway safety and traffic  
• Impact on linear character of development and outside confines  
• Impact on residential amenity. 

 
7.2 2 letters of support have also been received raising the following comment(s): 

 
• The scheme will allow the provision of affordable housing needed in the village  

 
8 APPRAISAL  
 

Principle of Development 
 

8.1 The application site lies on the northern edge of Braunston which is identified as a 
Secondary Service village within the Development policy RA2. This policy advises that 

Page 59



development will be located within the confines of the village but also sets out the 
circumstances under which development will be permitted outside the confines of the 
village.  Of particular relevance the policy refers to “Where the development provided 
would clearly meet an identified local need, for housing this would be need to identified 
through an up to date Housing Needs Survey or Housing Needs Assessment where it 
is demonstrated that this could not be otherwise met within the defined confines”. 

 
8.2 Development Plan Policy H3 advises that the provision of affordable housing to meet 

identified local needs in rural areas on exception sites will be supported.  The policy 
set out that  
“Schemes must either be purely affordable housing or mixed tenure schemes including 
an element of market housing where this is essential to the delivery of the affordable 
housing.  It will be a requirement that the market housing: 
1) Is the minimum necessary to make the scheme viable and 2)  

In all cases, the following criteria is met: 
a) The site is within or immediately adjoins the main built up area of a rural 

settlement  
b) The form and scale of development should be clearly justified by evidence of 

need through a local housing needs survey and; 
c) Arrangement for the management and occupation of the affordable housing 

must ensure that it will be available and affordable in perpetuity for people in 
local housing need. 

 
8.3 A viability assessment was submitted in support of the application.  This document has 

been subject of the consultation with Strategic Housing and officers are satisfied that 
the first of the part of the above policy requirement has been met.  The application site 
immediately adjoins the northern edge of the village confines as set out within the 
Development Plan Inset Maps.  The comments of Strategic Housing have confirmed 
that the proposal would be justified by an up to date housing needs survey and it is 
considered that the management and occupation could be secured by legal agreement  
 

8.4 There has been queries as to the consideration of alternative sites within the confines 
of the village to accommodate the proposal.  It is clear from the Development Plan Inset 
Map of the Braunston village confines that no such alternative site is available. 
Notwithstanding this, any alternative sites would need willing from the land owner which 
is not always agreeable. 

 
8.5 Having regard to the above, it is considered that principle of the development accords 

with the Development Plan policies. 
 

Impact on Highways & Traffic 
 

8.6 A large number of the representations received refer to the safety of the proposed 
access and the impact of additional traffic on the road network.  A transport assessment 
has been submitted in support of the application and subject of consultation with WNC 
Highways Authority. 
 

8.7 Development Plan policy ENV10 seeks to ensure that developments area accessible 
and will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on the highway network.  This 
objective is supported by the NPPF which requires that safe and suitable access to the 
site be achieved for all users.  The NPPF also advises that development should only 
be prevented or refused on highway grounds if there would unacceptable impact on 
highway safety or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. The comments received from WNC Highways Authority do not indicate that the 

Page 60



development would result in either of these cases and as such the impacts on highways 
and traffic is considered to have been satisfactorily addressed. 
 
Other matters 
 

8.8 It has been noted that some representations received have raised concerns as to the 
impact of the development on the residential amenities of their properties.  These 
concerns would be considered and addressed when the reserved matters application 
relating to outstanding details is submitted. 

9 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1 Paragraphs 55 and 57 of the Framework set out the need to consider whether 
financial contributions and planning obligations could be sought to mitigate against 
the impacts of a development and make otherwise unacceptable development 
acceptable.  
 

9.2 Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 (as 
amended) makes it clear that these obligations should only be sought where they are:  
 
(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
(b) directly related to the development; and  
(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
 
If a requested planning obligation does not comply with all of these tests, then it is not 
possible for the Council to require this. 
  

9.3 As the proposal meets the requirements for S106 contributions it is within this context 
that the Council has made and received a number of requests for planning obligations 
as detailed below. It is considered that some of these requests meet the necessary 
tests and are therefore CIL compliant.  
 

9.4 Education 

It is anticipated that the mixed tenure development will generate require a need for 
Primary School contribution (in accordance with the SPD – Developer contributions).  

Affordable Housing 

The proposal provides 31% affordable housing on site as part of the proposal. 
However, the amount required by Policy H2 equates to 40% (Affordable Housing in 
rural areas), therefore a Commuted Sum will be required for the additional 9% as an 
off-site provision. 

Highways 

A request has been made for a Travel Plan monitoring fee for a 5 year period from first 
Occupation.  

The developer is also required to provide a 28 day travel card bus voucher. This would 
be offered to the first occupant of each dwelling with the number of travel cards or total 
value capped and secured. 

These are considered to be necessary for sustainability. 

Page 61



 

Library 

A request has been made for Library Contributions however it is based on a tariff and 
does not meet the relevant tests. 

Health 

There were no financial contributions requested from the Health Authority. 

9.5 If the committee resolves to approve the proposal, this will be subject to the completion 
of an agreement by way of Section 106 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 
covering the following heads of terms as part of the proposal:- 

• Affordable Housing Provision on-site (31% of the required 40%) 
• Commuted sum to secure the remaining 9% requirement to ensure Policy 

compliance, equivalent to 4 units 
• Travel Plan Monitoring Fee 
• Primary Education Contribution 

9.6 This development is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL).   
 
10 RECOMMENDATION / CONCLUSION AND REASONS: 

 
10.1 It has been demonstrated that the proposed development would meet the criteria of an 

exception site and deliver need as identified within an up to date housing needs survey 
with the full affordable policy requirement.  The development would also have an 
acceptable impact on highways and traffic. Accordingly, the application is 
recommended for approval subject to the conditions and securing a Section 106 for the 
obligations as set out below: 
 

• Affordable Housing Provision on-site (31% of the required 40%) 
• Commuted sum to secure the remaining 9% requirement to ensure Policy 

compliance, equivalent to 4 units 
• Travel Plan Monitoring Fee 
• Primary Education Contribution 

 
Time Limit 

1. Approval of the details of the layout, scale, external appearance of the building(s), 
thereto and the landscaping of the site (hereinafter called "the reserved matters") shall 
be obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before any development is 
commenced. 

 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

 
2. Plans and particulars of the reserved matters referred to above relating to the layout, 

scale, external appearance of any building(s) to be erected, and the landscaping of the 
site shall be submitted in writing to the Local Planning Authority and shall be carried 
out as approved.  

 
Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990 

Page 62



 
3. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning 

Authority before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

Reason: To comply with Section 92 of the Town & Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
Approved Plans 
 

4. The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with drawing 100-916-
P001A, 352-TA10, 100-916/SK01G registered valid 14th March 2023. 

 
Reason: To ensure development is in accordance with the submitted drawings and to 
enable the Local Planning Authority to consider the impact of any changes to the 
approved plans. 
 
Noise 
 

5. Prior to use a noise assessment that outlines the likely impact on any noise sensitive 
property, and the measures necessary to ensure that the noise does not affect the local 
amenity of residents shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The assessment shall be determined by measurement or prediction in 
accordance with the guidance and methodology set out in BS4142: 2014. Once 
approved the use hereby permitted shall be operated in accordance with the approved 
details and thereafter maintained in this approved state at all times. 

 
Reason: In the interest of safeguarding residential amenity and reducing pollution in 
accordance with Policy BN9 of the West Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 
 
Contamination 

 
5. Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that 

required to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not 
commence until parts A to D have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is 
found after development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the 
site affected by the unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing until condition D has been complied with in relation to that 
contamination. 

A. Site Characterisation 
 

An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the 
planning application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the 
nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the 
site. The contents of the scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken by 
competent persons and a written report of the findings must be produced. The written 
report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The report of 
the findings must include: 
 
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination; 
 
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to: 
 

• human health 

Page 63



• property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, pets, 
woodland and service lines and pipes 

• adjoining land 
• groundwaters and surface waters 
• ecological systems 
• archaeological sites and ancient monuments. 

(iii) an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of the preferred option(s). 
 

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's 
‘Land Contamination Risk Management (LCRM)’ 
 
 B. Submission of Remediation Scheme 

 
A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for the intended 
use by removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and 
the natural and historical environment must be prepared and is subject to the approval 
in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be 
undertaken, proposed remediation objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of 
works and site management procedures. The scheme must ensure that the site will not 
qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 
in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation. 
 
C. Implementation of Approved Remediation Scheme 

 
The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms 
prior to the commencement of development other than that required to carry out 
remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of 
commencement of the remediation scheme works. 
 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out 
must be produced and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning 
Authority. 
 

  D. Reporting of Unexpected Contamination 
 
In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing 
immediately to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must 
be undertaken in accordance with the requirements of condition A, and where 
remediation is necessary a remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of condition B, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority in accordance with condition C. 
 
Reason: Contaminated land investigation is required prior to the commencement of 
development to ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property 
and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out safely 

Page 64



without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in 
accordance with Policy 11 of the NPPF and in the interest of safeguarding residential 
amenity and reducing pollution in accordance with Policy BN9 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 
 
 
Construction Management Plan 
 

7. Prior to the commencement a Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved Statement shall 
be adhered to throughout the construction period and the approved measures shall be 
retained for the duration of the construction 

 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding highway safety, safeguarding residential 
amenity and reducing pollution in accordance with Policy BN9 of the West 
Northamptonshire Joint Core Strategy. 
 
EV Charging Point 
 

8. Prior to occupation of the development hereby permitted, a scheme for the installation 
of electric vehicle charging points within the site shall be submitted and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: In accordance with the Councils adopted Parking SPD and Low Emission 
Strategy the development should meet the required type 1 mitigation for residential 
developments. 
 
Highways 
 

9 In the event of any of the streets associated with the residential element of this 
proposed development are not being proposed for adoption as public highway, the 
following conditions apply: 

 
• Details of a site management company and associated management and 

maintenance methodology of the streets within the development, to operate for 
the life of the development, will be submitted to the planning authority and 
agreed in writing prior to the commencement of development. 

• The streets will in any event be required to be laid out and constructed to 
adoptable standards to ensure safe and practical operation, prior to first 
occupation of any dwelling. 

• That prior to fist occupation of any dwelling a legal undertaking is provided by 
the developer that the streets will not be put forward for adoption and will remain 
private for the life of the development. 

• That the streets will be identified as private through the use of appropriate 
private street name plates on the entrances to the development from the public 
highway (to be placed within the site). 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety  
 
Surface Water 
 

Page 65



10. Before any above ground works commence full details of the surface water drainage 
scheme for the site, based on the approved Flood Risk Assessment report reference 
352-FRA-01-0 prepared by MAC in February 2023 will be submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed.  
 
The scheme shall include  

 
i. details (i.e. designs, diameters, invert and cover levels, gradients, dimensions 

and so on) of all elements of the proposed drainage system, to include pipes, 
inspection chambers, outfalls/inlets and attenuation structures (if required).  

ii. details of the drainage system are to be accompanied by full and appropriately 
cross-referenced supporting calculations. 

iii. cross sections of the control chambers (including site specific levels mAOD) 
and manufacturers’ hydraulic curves should be submitted for all hydrobrakes 
and other flow control devices. 

iv. Infiltration test results to BRE 365. 

Reason To prevent the increased risk of flooding, both on and off site, by ensuring the 
satisfactory means of surface water attenuation and discharge from the site.  

 
11. No development shall take place until a detailed scheme for the maintenance and 

upkeep of every element of the surface water drainage system proposed on the site 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the 
maintenance plan shall be carried out in full thereafter. This scheme shall include 
details of any drainage elements that will require replacement within the lifetime of the 
proposed development.  
 
Details are required of which organisation or body will be the main maintaining body 
where the area is multifunctional (e.g. open space play areas containing SuDS) with 
evidence that the organisation/body has agreed to such adoption. 
 
The scheme shall include, a maintenance schedule setting out which assets need to 
be maintained, at what intervals and what method is to be used. 
 
A site plan including access points, maintenance access easements and outfalls. 
 
Maintenance operational areas to be identified and shown on the plans, to ensure there 
is room to gain access to the asset, maintain it with appropriate plant and then handle 
any arisings generated from the site.  
 
Details of expected design life of all assets with a schedule of when replacement assets 
may be required. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the drainage systems associated with the development will be 
adopted and maintained appropriately in perpetuity of the development, to reduce the 
potential risk of flooding due to failure of the proposed drainage system.  
 

12. No Occupation shall take place until a Verification Report for the installed surface water 
drainage system for the site based on the approved Flood Risk Assessment, document 
reference: 352-FRA-01-0 prepared by MAC in February 2023 has been submitted in 
writing by a suitably qualified drainage engineer and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.  

Page 66



 
The details shall include:  
 

a) Any departure from the agreed design is keeping with the approved principles.  
b) Any As-Built Drawings and accompanying photos.  
c) Results of any Performance testing undertaken as a part of the application 

process (if required / necessary). 
d) Copies of any Statutory Approvals, such as Land Drainage Consent for 

Discharges etc. 
e) CCTV confirmation that the system is free from defects, damage and foreign 

objects.  

Reason: To ensure the installed Surface Water Drainage System is satisfactory and in 
accordance with the approved reports for the development site.  
 
Finished Floor Levels 

 
13. The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until such time as a 

scheme to ensure finished floor levels are set no lower than 300mm above adjacent 
ground levels has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.   
 
The applicant must also demonstrate the no water susceptible development is located 
within water susceptible / flood flow route(s). 
 
The scheme shall be fully implemented and subsequently maintained, in accordance 
with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any 
other period as may subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future users 
and to ensure that pluvial flood flow routes are not displaced causing flooding to others. 

  
 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	5a 2023/5560/MAF - Residential Development of 52 no. dwellings. Arnex House, London Road, Daventry
	5b WND/2023/0235 - Outline application for construction of 29 dwellings with associated landscaping, open space, vehicular access and parking provision (all matters reserved aside from access). Land off Barby Road, Braunston

